http://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/

Research Commons at the University of Waikato

Copyright Statement:

The digital copy of this thesis is protected by the Copyright Act 1994 (New Zealand).

The thesis may be consulted by you, provided you comply with the provisions of the Act and the following conditions of use:

- Any use you make of these documents or images must be for research or private study purposes only, and you may not make them available to any other person.
- Authors control the copyright of their thesis. You will recognise the author's right
 to be identified as the author of the thesis, and due acknowledgement will be
 made to the author where appropriate.
- You will obtain the author's permission before publishing any material from the thesis.

Parent mental health and associations with mind-mindedness across two infant interactions: free play and a teaching task

A thesis

submitted in fulfilment

of the requirements for the degree

of

Masters of Social Sciences in Psychology

at

The University of Waikato

by

Kerry Sparrow



Abstract

Mind-mindedness (MM) is the tendency of a parent to recognise and treat their child as having a mind of their own. The current study aimed to examine associations of parent mental health and wellbeing symptoms with parental MM across two infant interactions: a free play and a teaching task. Sixty-two parent-infant dyads from New Zealand and Australia participated in the interactions, which were recorded and then coded for positive and negatively valenced appropriate and non-attuned MM. In addition, parents also completed the Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-21; Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995), the Difficulties with Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS; Gratz & Roemer, 2004) and the Parental Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (PRFQ; Luyten, Mayes, Sadler, Fonagy, Nicholls, Crowley & Slade, 2009) via an online survey.

The results showed that the proportion of appropriate positive MM comments differed across the tasks. Parents spoke more overall during free play but made more appropriate positive and negative comments in the teaching task. Greater parental stress and anxiety symptoms were associated with more appropriate negative mind-minded comments, with different patterns seen across the two tasks. In free play, stress was associated with appropriate negative MM; whereas in the teaching task, greater parent stress and anxiety were associated with more appropriate negative MM and fewer non-attuned MM comments. Appropriate and non-attuned MM comments were positively correlated with parental prementalising. Increased parental difficulties with emotional regulation were linked to an increase in appropriate negative and also non-attuned MM comments. Stress explained 11.7% of the variance in appropriate negative MM comments in free play, and anxiety explained 12.1% of the variance in appropriate negative MM during the teaching task. Stress and PRFQ pre-mentalising together explained 23.2% of the variance in non-attuned MM comments in the teaching task

The current findings have implications for understanding how parental wellbeing is associated with differences in MM and extend existing research from free play contexts to the parent-infant teaching context. Understanding differences in MM as a function of parent mental health is important in targeting future MM interventions to support high-risk parents. This research was conducted over the COVID period with varying impacts. In particular, DERS and DASS scores were higher than other research conducted prior to COVID, so caution is required when considering the generalisability of the results. However, this may reflect the 'new normal' for a significant portion of time as COVID impact has been reported to be significant and ongoing.

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank John, the love of my life, and the two lights in my life, Paige and William, for their support, encouragement and patience throughout my study. I could not have accomplished this without you. Thank you, my beautiful family!

Thank you, Sarah, you believed I could do this before I did; thank you for the encouragement, resources, listening ear and all your support.

Tamsyn, thank you for your ongoing encouragement and support and for helping me stay on task and maintain some sanity.

Thank you, Kyle, for believing in me, laughing with me, keeping me grounded and encouraging me all the way.

A big thank you to my supervisor, Amy. You shared your knowledge, time and resources without hesitation and provided me with ongoing support, guidance, direction and encouragement. I appreciate so much all you have done to support me in completing this. This thesis would not be possible without you!

Thank you to all the special people willing to participate and share their time and personal stories to allow this research to take place! I appreciate your participation very dearly; this was time-consuming for you and your beautiful children. Thank you does not fully express my gratitude to you for your willingness to participate, be so open and share so much.

Thank you to the other researchers, coders, and contributors in New Zealand and Australia who contributed to the overall data set.

Table of contents

Abstract	i
List of tables and figures	v
Chapter 1 - Introduction	1
'Good enough' parenting	2
Attachment	3
Parental sensitivity	10
Mentalisation or reflective functioning	14
Mind-mindedness (MM)	17
Parental mental health	23
MM, free play and other contexts	30
Chapter 2 Methodology	38
Introduction	38
Ethics	38
Method	38
Participants	38
Online survey	39
Parent-child play sessions	41
Data analysis	42
Chapter 3 Results	43
Descriptive and Preliminary analyses	43
Inferential statistics	45
Correlation analyses	49
Regression analyses	52
Conclusion	54
Chapter 4 Discussion	55
MM across the teaching task and free play	56
MM and parental depression, anxiety and stress in free play and the teaching task	58
Parental RF and MM in free play and the teaching task	62
Parental difficulties with emotion regulation and MM in free play and the teaching ta	ısk63
MM and demographics.	65
Strengths and limitations	67

Future research and implications	71
Conclusion	74
References	76
Appendix	90
Appendix A – Ethics approval	90
Appendix B –Research advertisement	91
Appendix C – Participant information sheet	92
Appendix D – Consent form	95
Appendix E - Teaching task list	96
Appendix F – Depression, anxiety and stress scale (DASS-21)	97
Appendix G – Difficulties in emotion regulation scale (DERS)	98
Appendix H – Parental reflective functioning questionnaire (PRFQ)	99
List of tables and figures	
Table 1	44
Exploration of the household income status of the sample	44
Table 2.	46
Correlations related to parental age, child age and sibling numbers	46
Table 3.	47
Descriptive statistics DASS, PRFQ and DERS	47
Table 4.	48
Descriptive statistics for parent MM across both free play and teaching tasks	48
Table 5	50
Correlations between DASS-21 subscales and MM	50
Table 6.	51
Correlations between PRFQ subscales and MM	51
Table 7	52
Correlations between DERS and MM	52
Table 8	53
Stepwise linear regression analyses.	53

Chapter 1 - Introduction

The quality of the early parent-infant relationship is now widely recognised as having life-long importance (Hoffman et al., 2017). In the initial years of life, infants form an attachment to their primary caregiver(s). This relationship's nature, or security, has implications for children's social, emotional, behavioural and cognitive development (Benoit, 2004; Brown et al., 2012; van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2009). Attachment theory has pointed to maternal sensitive responding as the primary determinant of infant attachment security. For several decades this was primarily conceptualised as maternal sensitive behaviour (Meins et al., 2001).

Meins (1997) called for a cognitive reconceptualisation of the measurement of maternal sensitivity, suggesting that a parent's capacity to think about their child's internal world - their thoughts, feelings, desires and intentions – may underlie the development of attachment security. Meins termed this capacity mind-mindedness (MM) (Meins et al., 2001). MM has been shown to relate to attachment security, partially explain the intergenerational transmission of attachment, and relate to children's developmental outcomes (Bernier & Dozier, 2016; McMahon & Bernier, 2017). The importance of MM for child development (Aldrich et al., 2021; Colonnesi et al., 2019), and suggestions that parental mental health may impact the intergenerational transmission of attachment (Risi et al., 2021), has led to an interest in understanding how MM is related to parental mental health difficulties. This thesis will examine the associations of parental MM with parent mental health symptoms with a group of parents of infants aged between six and eighteen months.

The first chapter will review attachment theory, maternal sensitivity, MM, and the current literature examining the associations of MM with parental mental health.

'Good enough' parenting

At the outset, it is helpful to explore parenting and what is considered effective parenting before exploring the specifics of attachment. Parenting books and articles in the public domain promote various strategies or techniques, but finding a specific, consistent definition of effective parenting is challenging. Parenting occurs within a particular family and broader societal context, which impacts what is considered effective. Parenting is impacted by religious, cultural, neighbourhood and even policy-related factors (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Kotchick & Forehand, 2002). Donald Winnicott conceptualised the 'good-enough mother', noting this would be a parent who provided sufficient support to enable the child to tolerate frustration in life and one who adapted to the infant's needs (Choate & Engstrom, 2014; Sadock et al., 2015). Importantly, this definition moves away from a 'perfect parent' ideal to emphasise helpful parenting interactions more often than not.

Epstein (2010) reviewed decades of research and views of parents and experts and identified ten essential parenting skill sets. The most important competency was reported to be love and affection, which included supporting, accepting the child, physical affection and quality time together. Further positive parenting competencies included parents managing their own stress and their child's stress. Parents with relationship skills supported them in maintaining a healthy relationship with their partner or spouse and other people. Parents who were able to engage in respectful and encouraging communication with their children convey a valuing of autonomy and independence. Parents can also promote and model the importance of ongoing learning and provide educational opportunities for their child. Parent steady income and future plans may also be important in providing for themselves and their children. Parent use of behavioural management strategies, especially positive reinforcement and modelling of a healthy lifestyle, can promote positive habits for their children. Finally, parent support of their child's spiritual or religious development and awareness of the child's

activities and friends and taking precautions to protect their child are also considered important (Epstein, 2010).

Attachment

Attachment theory provides a strong foundation for understanding the impacts of 'good enough' parenting on infant and child development. Attachment explains a regulatory system where the child uses their connection with their primary caregiver as a secure base from which they can explore the world. The securely attached infant can return to their attachment figure for safety and comfort (Benoit, 2004; Hughes & Golding, 2012). In this way, attachment is a complex system and is more than just the relationship, connection, or bond between people. Research shows that attachment impacts multiple areas of our lives: social and emotional outcomes (Benoit, 2004; Brown et al., 2012; Rees, 2007; Siegel, 2012), our relationships (Cristina et al., 2020; Siegel, 2012), behaviour (Brown et al., 2012; Hill & McMahon, 2016; van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2009) mental health and resilience (Benoit, 2004; Siegel, 2012; van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2009) brain development (Hill & McMahon, 2016; Hughes & Golding, 2012; Siegel, 2012) and physical health (Puig et al., 2013), among others.

Bowlby (1958) first theorised about parent-infant attachment, integrating advances in evolutionary theory with cognitive and information systems models (Cassidy et al., 2013; Siegel, 2012). Harlow's research with rhesus monkeys, highlighting the importance of maternal touch and maternal comfort beyond being fed, also influenced Bowlby's thinking about early attachment relationships (Feinberg, 2015; Hughes & Golding, 2012; Lahousen et al., 2019). When a primary caregiver is consistently and reliably available and responsive to an infant's needs, the infant develops a sense of security (Benoit, 2004; Sadock et al., 2015).

The infant sees the caregiver as dependable, creating a secure base from which the infant can explore the world (Sadock et al., 2015; Siegel, 2012).

Ainsworth expanded on Bowlby's work and identified that the mother and infant's interactions significantly influenced the infant's current and future behaviours, and patterns of attachment were noted (Sadock et al., 2015). Ainsworth explored attachment through her Strange Situation Procedure (SSP) and identified three attachment styles, secure, avoidant and resistant, with classification largely dependent on an infant's response to the caregiver following two separations and reunions (Brown et al., 2012). Main and Solomon (1986) subsequently identified a fourth attachment style - insecure-disorganised – where infants lack an organised or coherent system of relating to their attachment figure (van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 1997).

Ainsworth noted that infants who have formed a close bond with a primary caregiver who is responsive to their needs in a warm, sensitive, and timely manner and can read their cues; have healthy social and emotional development (Chen, 2019; Hoffman et al., 2017). In the SSP, the secure child seeks proximity to the caregiver and can connect and then return to play on the caregiver's return. Research shows secure attachment to be around fifty-five to sixty-five per cent of infants in low-risk, non-clinical populations (Benoit, 2004; Karr-Morse & Wiley, 2012; Sadock et al., 2015; Siegel, 2012).

In insecure-avoidant attachment, the child may have experienced emotionally unavailable, rejecting, unresponsive, abrupt or aggressive parenting, so tends to stay near the caregiver but does not go to them when faced with a threat (Karr-Morse & Wiley, 2012; McLeod, 2018; Sadock et al., 2015; Siegel, 2012; Siegel & Hartzell, 2014). These infants often appear disinterested and may avoid or ignore the parent when they return in the SSP (van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 1997). These children learn to inhibit strong emotions and avoid emotionally charged interactions (Karr-Morse & Wiley, 2012). Research

shows avoidant attachment to be around twenty to thirty per cent of infants in low-risk, non-clinical populations (Benoit, 2004; Karr-Morse & Wiley, 2012; Sadock et al., 2015; Siegel, 2012; van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 1997).

Insecure-ambivalent or insecure-resistant attachment describes an attachment style where the parent may have been inconsistently available and pushes their own states of mind onto their children (Siegel & Hartzell, 2014). The child cannot depend on the parent for attunement and connection (Siegel & Hartzell, 2014). These children find exploratory play difficult even when there is no danger and may cling to the inconsistent parent; they are anxious, not easily soothed, and do not readily return to play after separation and reunion (Karr-Morse & Wiley, 2012; McLeod, 2018; Siegel, 2012). Research shows ambivalent attachment to be around five to fifteen percent of infants in low-risk, non-clinical populations (Benoit, 2004; Karr-Morse & Wiley, 2012; Sadock et al., 2015; Siegel, 2012; van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 1997).

Finally, insecure-disorganised attachment describes an attachment style where the parents are frightened, frightening or disoriented in their communication with the child (Karr-Morse & Wiley, 2012; Verhage et al., 2016). Main describes these infants as facing an "irresolvable paradox"; the parent is both the source of fear and the only means of protection (Benoit, 2004; Shah et al., 2010). Thus when threatened, the child will behave in unusual ways; the child seeks comfort so may approach, then avoid the parent, freeze or turn in circles (Sadock et al., 2015; Siegel & Hartzell, 2014). Research shows disorganised attachment to be around fifteen per cent of infants in non-clinical populations (van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 1997), with much higher rates - around seventy per cent - where parental maltreatment was found (Siegel, 2012).

Secure attachment is proposed to have three main functions; (1) the creation of safety and security for the infant; (2) the provision of a secure base from which the infant can then

explore their world; and (3) to support emotional regulation, distress tolerance, self-soothing, and creating joy (Divecha, 2017). In addition, some researchers have gone as far as to hail secure attachment as providing "psychological immunity" for children as they develop and when they are adults (Hoffman et al., 2017); with most viewing secure attachment as an important contributor to resilience through later adversity (Sroufe, 2021; Supkoff et al., 2012).

Decades of longitudinal research have shown that secure attachment is associated with more positive child outcomes across domains (Benoit, 2004; Brown et al., 2012; J. Fisher, 2017). Compared with their insecurely attached peers, securely attached children perform better academically, have better physical health, have more intimate and fulfilling relationships later in life and have better friendships (Benoit, 2004; Hoffman et al., 2017; Kerns & Brumariu, 2014; McMahon & Bernier, 2017; Puig et al., 2013). In comparison, children with insecure or disorganised attachments are more likely to have anxiety and difficulties regulating emotions and interacting with peers (Kerns & Brumariu, 2014). Early secure attachment is associated with greater child happiness, self-confidence, empathy, compassion, and endurance (Bennett, 2017; Mikulincer et al., 2005). Regulatory and survival functions in the right brain are thought to be strongly related to early parent-infant attachments (Schore, 2001). Attachment appears to promote the brain's integrative capacities (Siegel & Hartzell, 2014), which support our ability to develop emotional, cognitive, and interpersonal abilities (Karr-Morse & Wiley, 2012; Lee & James, 2012; Siegel & Hartzell, 2014). Siegel (2010) notes early attachment status has been demonstrated to predict people's attunement and connections with others, how they construct a personal narrative and the ability to have healthy, fulfilling relationships; further, traumatic experiences or disruptions in attachment impair integration. These longitudinal findings highlight the importance of understanding and promoting early secure parent-infant attachment relationships.

Schaffer and Emerson (1964) suggested that attachment develops through four stages. The asocial or pre-attachment stage is from birth to six weeks when an infant shows no specific attachment. The indiscriminate stage, sometimes called attachment in the making, is from six weeks to seven months, when the infant begins to show a preference for a primary and secondary caregiver. The infant is developing a stronger attachment to familiar adults but not yet showing an aversion to strangers. Discriminate, clear-cut or specific attachment stage is from seven months; the infant shows a strong attachment to one specific caregiver. The infant is growing bonds with other caregivers from ten months and is in the multiple attachment stage (Cherry, 2019; Edward, 2017; Lahousen et al., 2019; Sadock et al., 2015; Schaffer & Emerson, 1964).

It is important to note that attachment is relationship-specific; infants can form different attachments to different caregivers (Benoit, 2004; Siegel, 2012). The infant forms a hierarchy of attachments based on how the particular caregivers respond to the child's needs (Benoit, 2004). This is linked to how the adult caregiver's mind and patterns of communication shape the child's brain development. During the early months, an infant is regulated by the adult. Brain activation occurs in these interactions, depending on the quality of the interaction, creating a specific representational set of activations (Benoit, 2004; Siegel, 2012). These early caregiving interactions are thought to form the basis of the infant's attachment regulatory system, which they then carry forward through development (Sroufe & Waters, 2017).

To understand how attachment is reflected across the lifespan, Carol George, Nancy Kaplan, and Mary Main in 1984 developed the Adult Attachment Interview (AAI) (M. A. Fisher, 2017). The AAI is a semi-structured autobiographical narrative where the adult is asked a series of questions about their experiences of being parented growing up, and the impact on their adult personality. The coherence of the individual's narrative is thought to

reflect the organisation of the underlying state of mind about attachment rather than the specific experiences described (Siegel, 2012; van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2009). The development of the AAI allowed attachment researchers to empirically examine many of the core predictions of attachment theory, including intergenerational transmission (Siegel & Hartzell, 2014). Through narrative responses to the AAI, adult attachment can be classified as: secure/autonomous, said to correlate with secure attachment in the infant; dismissing, correlating with avoidant attachment in the infant; preoccupied, correlating with resistant or ambivalent in the infant; and finally unresolved, correlating with disorganised attachment in the infant (Siegel, 2012).

On the AAI, adults classified as secure-autonomous tend to value attachment relationships, describe their attachment experiences coherently, whether positive or negative and see them as important to their own personality. Adults with insecure-dismissing attachment minimised the importance of attachment in their own lives or idealised their childhood experiences but could not provide concrete illustrations of them. Adults with insecure-preoccupied attachments tended to maximise the impact of attachment and were still very preoccupied with their past and unable to describe it coherently or reflectively. Adults with an unresolved attachment showed signs of unresolved trauma experienced, usually involving the loss of attachment figures. A fifth category was more recently added, "cannot classify," for adults where contradictory discourse strategies appeared throughout the AAI (van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2009).

It is important to note that while attachment security is considered relatively enduring, with lifelong developmental correlates, attachment classifications are also subject to change. In general, changes in attachment across the lifespan are thought to reflect 'lawful discontinuity', in that (within high-risk samples especially) there is a substantial change in attachment security from infancy to early adulthood but that these changes can be explained

based on changes in the wider social context of caregiving. For example, the seminal Minnesota study found that loss of social support and increases in social, economic and family stressors (especially child maltreatment and parental mental health difficulties) during childhood were associated with a move from security to insecurity (Weinfield et al., 2000). Both Bowlby and Ainsworth theorised about the possibility of change in the early attachment pattern. They discussed the potential for insecure infants to become secure, and Ainsworth also felt the reverse was possible (Main, 2000). Main and Goldwyn (1984) explored how an adult could come to have a secure attachment either consistently from infancy (continuous) or 'earned' (Feinberg, 2015; Roisman et al., 2002). An earned-security classification on the AAI is given to adults when they describe a problematic relationship with their parents in childhood. However, they have been able to integrate these experiences into a coherent narrative, reflecting a current secure internal representational relationship model. Research shows that both continuous secure and earned secure parents can be similarly effective parents (Pearson et al., 1994; Roisman et al., 2002). Both showed more warmth and structure with their preschool children than insecure parents; this highlights the importance of the parent's current state of mind regarding attachment. In their 23-year longitudinal study investigating earned-secure attachment, Roisman et al. (2002) determined that adults could overcome earlier negative experiences and develop an earned secure attachment through subsequent positive relationships such as psychotherapy. They could change their attachment from insecure to earned-secure (Guina, 2016). These findings highlight that while early infant caregiving and attachment have life-long implications, attachment is not necessarily 'set in stone' and has the capacity for change across the lifespan.

Research exploring attachment across the lifespan has shown that an infant's attachment with their caregivers impacts their later attachment as adults. In turn, a parent's own attachment state of mind can influence the attachment security their infant develops with

them, known as intergenerational transmission (Shah et al., 2010). Essentially, individuals repeat the patterns of their relationships earlier in life throughout their lives (Brumbaugh & Fraley, 2006). Meta-analytic evidence suggests that while parental sensitive responding mediates the transmission of parent to infant attachment security, this mechanism is relatively modest. Approximately 75% of intergenerational transmission of attachment remains unexplained by parental sensitive behaviour. This has been termed the 'transmission gap' (McMahon & Bernier, 2017; van Ijzendoorn & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2009).

In recent decades, significant developments in understanding human anatomy, brain development, and technology have occurred. These have contributed to a deeper understanding of attachment, particularly the impacts of attachment on neuropsychiatric development (Siegel, 2012). Despite these new developments the transmission gap remains (McMahon & Bernier, 2017).

Parental sensitivity

Bowlby hypothesised that attachment experiences were carried over as a mental model that guides perception and responses in current and future relationships. Main et al. (1985) furthered this, proposing that adults organise attachment-relevant information into mental representations, or internal working models, of attachment. Therefore, understanding parental representations of attachment and how they are expressed in caregiving interactions is key to understanding the intergenerational transmission of attachment (Shah et al., 2010). A parent's state of mind regarding attachment is thought to influence the way the parent responds to the infant's needs, behaviours, signals, and emotions. This interactive caregiving behaviour is referred to as parental sensitivity, which is thought to form the experiential basis from which infants develop their working model of the world (Tarabulsy et al., 2005).

According to Bowlby, children are most likely to develop a secure attachment when they have confidence in their attachment figures and know they provide a secure base (Cassidy et al., 2017). Providing a secure base is key to allowing infants, children, and adolescents to explore their world, knowing they can return to their parents for comfort and support (Marvin et al., 2002). Despite Bowlby reporting the secure base to be a central concept in developmental psychiatry, there is limited literature related to this area (Jones & Cassidy, 2014). Although limited, the evidence suggests that parents with insecure attachment may have difficulties with the challenges and stresses of being a secure base for the infant. Furthermore, the infant of insecure parents may be less willing or able to use the parent as a secure base (Emery et al., 2008; Jones & Cassidy, 2014). It therefore appears that the secure base consists of two interrelated components: the parent's provision of the secure base and the child's use of a secure base.

Secure base provision and maternal sensitivity are closely linked; to provide a secure base, the parent must be sensitive to the infant's needs. In describing 'good enough' parenting, Winnicott noted that a secure base is an internal representational model based on the overall pattern of parent behaviour (Sadock et al., 2015). For example, infants (in a low socio-economic status sample) could tolerate high levels of maternal insensitivity and still develop a secure attachment with their mother, if she was not frightening or extremely hostile specifically when the infant was distressed and if she was sufficiently behaviourally responsive to the infant's signals (Cassidy et al., 2005).

Significant evidence highlights that infants develop healthy relationships and effective behavioural and social-emotional skills when they have early sensitive interactions with their caregivers (Leerkes et al., 2009). The primary caregiver's sensitivity refers to the quality of their responses to their infants' cues and their timely and appropriate responses. Ainsworth et al. (1974) noted that parental sensitivity had four essential components: parental awareness of

and accurate interpretation of signals and appropriate and prompt responses. A sensitive caregiver, therefore, would be one who – more often than not - responded quickly to the infant, and the responses matched the infant's cues and developmental needs and the current contextual requirements (Leerkes et al., 2009; Steenhoff et al., 2019). Furthermore, the parent's sensitivity to the infant's communications and signals predicts a secure organisation (Brahm et al., 2016; Main, 2000). Further, it is noted that parental intrusiveness negates sensitive parenting behaviour (Steenhoff et al., 2019).

It should be kept in mind that the vast majority of attachment research has been conducted with mothers; hence the terms 'mother' and 'maternal' have been adopted through this section when describing empirical research. Though it is likely that similar processes occur for fathers, co-parents, adoptive parents, foster parents and other caregivers, this terminology currently reflects the majority of research (Newland et al., 2014). Moving beyond maternal sensitivity will be important for future research (Malmberg et al., 2016).

Some research has been conducted on paternal sensitivity, and some deductions are made that paternal sensitivity would be similar to maternal sensitivity if the father were the primary caregiver, but further research is required. Branger et al. (2019) studied maternal and paternal sensitivity with 109 families with four-month-old infants across four different observational settings. They concluded that mothers and fathers were equally sensitive across contexts. Steenhoff et al. (2019) conducted research with 52 mothers and 41 fathers and their five-year-old children; they concluded that the measures more accurately measured maternal sensitivity than paternal sensitivity. Despite this, they did not identify behaviour solely related to mothering or fathering. They found a similar dyadic pattern across both mothers and fathers during the dyadic interactions. The parent's sensitivity was correlated with child involvement, while a correlation was also found between parental limit-setting and child compliance. Finally, the child withdrew more as parental intrusiveness increased for both

mothers and fathers (Steenhoff et al., 2019). Brown et al. (2012) examined concurrent and longitudinal associations among father's involvement, parental sensitivity and father-child attachment security at thirteen months and three years. They found that father-child attachment security was relatively stable, that secure attachment at thirteen months predicted greater levels of parental sensitivity at three years and that sensitivity at age three mediated the association between attachment security at thirteen months and three years. Tamis-LeMonda et al. (2004), Belsky et al. (2005), and Feldman and Klein (2003) all found that both mothers and fathers acted equally sensitively towards their children, but Tamis-LeMonda et al. (2004) found that fathers had slightly lower intrusiveness than mothers. Together, these findings suggest that paternal sensitivity may function in a similar way as maternal sensitivity in the development of infant and child attachment, although far fewer studies have focused on fathers compared with mothers.

While parental sensitivity appears important for infants to develop their working model and security, research findings have suggested substantial complexities. For example, Meins (2013b) found that mothers in the insecure-resistant and insecure-avoidant categories were indistinguishable based on current measurements of maternal sensitive behaviour. As noted previously, over 75% of attachment transmission cannot be explained by caregiver sensitivity, and this 'transmission gap' is wider for high-risk families (Verhage et al., 2016). These findings led Meins (1999) to call for a return to Ainsworth's original conceptualisation of sensitivity as both a behavioural and a cognitive construct. In particular, Meins focused on Ainsworth's original emphasis on the caregiver's ability to perceive things from the infant's point of view rather than on observable sensitive behaviour per se. Meins described this construct as 'mind-mindedness' (MM) and hoped it would provide information to fill the transmission gap (McMahon & Bernier, 2017).

Mentalisation or reflective functioning

Although developed independently within different fields, MM shares many parallels with mentalising. As outlined above, MM evolved from developmental and attachment frameworks. Mentalising was also strongly informed by developmental and attachment thinking while also developing within the context of psychodynamic and developmentally informed intervention (Sharp & Fonagy, 2008). Both approaches are interested in how parental representations of their child's internal world might explain the intergenerational transmission of attachment. Bateman and Fonagy (2004) described mentalisation as the ability to think about the mental states of ourselves and others and to realise that these are separate from but contributing to our own and others' behaviours. The reflective self was identified by Fonagy et al. (1991) as an internal observer that reflects on the conscious and unconscious mental experiences: "reflective functioning (RF; Fonagy, Steele, Steele, Moran, & Higgitt, 1991)...measures the ability to read and interpret behaviours in light of the mental processes that underlie them and, at the most general level, reflects an individual's ability to understand others as intentional agents and see themselves in the same manner" (Sleed et al., 2020, p. 310). More recently extended to the parenting domain, mentalising describes a parent's capacity to understand their own mental states and those of their child, with curiosity and flexibility and to see their child as a "psychological agent" (Camoirano, 2017; Yatziv et al., 2018). In the early years of a child's development, mental processes are pre-reflective, and the child goes on to develop full RF based on the caregivers' capacity to accurately perceive the infants' intentionality (Fonagy et al., 1998). As such, the child is developing mentalisation capacity based on how his own experiences are being reflected upon (Fonagy et al., 1998).

Sharp and Fonagy (2008) noted that both MM and mentalising shared many parallels related to the parental capacity to treat the child as a psychological agent. They, however,

differ in their operationalisation; MM involves an evaluation of interactions within the parent-child dyads, while mentalising reflects metacognitive representations the parent holds about the relationship with the child (Sharp & Fonagy, 2008). Furthermore, MM is conceptualised as a relational quality, and mentalising is more of a cognitive-behavioural competence (Barreto et al., 2015). According to Laranjo et al. (2014), MM is more than just a reflection of mentalising ability within the parent-child relationship. They argued that MM reflects a specific aspect of the parent-child attachment relationship. In support, Meins et al. (2006) found that children's mental state terms used to describe a character in a story were unrelated to children's theory of mind development, yet parent's MM is consistently related to children's theory of mind development (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). In addition, Barreto et al. (2015) found that parents' mentalising and MM were no longer significantly correlated after controlling for mental health symptoms, socio-demographic covariates and child temperament. These findings provide some support for mentalising and MM as related but distinct constructs.

Fonagy et al. (1998) operationalised the underlying construct of mentalising in terms of an individual's RF capacity. He developed the Reflective Self-Function Scale (RFS) to examine this empirically. The scale was designed to be used with the AAI so that markers of the parents' ability to understand their own and the mental states of others while recalling their childhood experiences with their attachment figures could be detected through the interview. Four markers were identified as evidence of RF, and the individual received an overall score ranging from negative RF (minus one) to exceptional RF (nine). The four markers are: 'awareness of the nature of mental states', 'explicit effort to tease out mental states underlying behaviour'; 'recognising developmental aspects of mental states'; and 'mental states in relation to the interviewer' (Camoirano, 2017; Fonagy et al., 1998).

The gold standard for measuring RF is considered to be the RFS applied to the Parent Development Interview (PDI) or the AAI. The PDI-RF, developed in 2004, was designed to evaluate parents' mental representation of themself as parents and of their children (Anis et al., 2020; Sleed et al., 2020). The RFS was also applied to the Pregnancy Interview, creating a PI-RF. The Pregnancy Interview functioned as the PDI but for pregnant mothers, so focused on evaluating the mother's views of herself during pregnancy, about her unborn child and her expectations of her future as a parent (Camoirano, 2017). Using the PDI-RF, both Grienenberger et al. (2005) and Slade et al. (2005) found that parental RF was related to maternal behaviour and the child's later attachment security. In addition, Slade et al. (2005) found that mothers classified as autonomous on the AAI during pregnancy later had higher levels of RF on the PDI-RF when their infant was ten months old. Furthermore, their infants were more likely to be securely attached at 14 months of age. There is also evidence that low maternal RF is associated with ambivalent-resistant and disorganised infant attachment (Camoirano, 2017). Several other studies were reviewed, supporting the importance of RF as a key requirement to adequate caregiving and forming a secure attachment (Camoirano, 2017). RF helps children attribute mental states to others and as such, makes them able to find the behaviours of others to be meaningful and predictable (Fonagy & Target, 1997). The child can develop RF through evolving relational interactions with the caregiver (Fonagy & Target, 1997). Whilst we have come to know that RF is important for developing secure attachment in that it allows for the parent and child to reflect upon the mental state of each other, the specific influence remains poorly defined.

The 'gold standard' methodology for measurement of parental RF – application of the RFS to either the PDI or AAI are time-consuming for researchers and participants and requires specialist training to code reliably. These constraints led to the development of two alternative self-report measures: the Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (RFQ) and the

Parental Reflective Function Questionnaire (PRFQ) (Anis et al., 2020). Anis et al. (2020) had determined convergent validity and concluded with their research that the PRFQ was both valid and reliable as a brief multifaceted measure of parental RF. As noted by Pazzagli et al. (2018), the PRFQ assesses low and high mentalising capacities across three dimensions, prementalising, certainty about mental states and interest or curiosity in mental states. The prementalising or non-mentalising modes of thought is where there is an impairment in mentalisation parents cannot attain a view of the child's inner world (Luyten, Nijssens, et al., 2017; Pazzagli et al., 2018). A parent enters certainty of mental state when they are overly sure, thinking they always know the child's wants and mental state without acknowledging how impossible it is to always know exactly the thoughts of another (Luyten, Nijssens, et al., 2017; Pazzagli et al., 2018). Ideally, one wants to have interest or curiosity where the parent is genuinely curious and willing to understand the child's thoughts, feelings and state of mind (Luyten, Nijssens, et al., 2017; Pazzagli et al., 2018).

RF and mentalising are key areas related to parent-child interactions and attachment but do not explain the transmission gap. There are links between RF, mentalisation and MM. The parent's RF and mentalisation abilities are likely required for them to be MM.

Mind-mindedness (MM)

MM as described above, was initially defined to focus more specifically on the cognitive components of the broader construct of sensitivity: the parent's ability to engage at the mental state level with the infant, not just their behavioural responses to the infants' physical and emotional needs (Hill & McMahon, 2016; McMahon et al., 2016). The ability to see the infant as having a mind of their own would allow the parent to reflect on the needs and wants of the infant from the infant's perspective. A parent could appropriately intuit the

infant's thoughts and feelings, or a parent could misinterpret and make non-attuned comments. Meins (1999) proposed that parents' attuned or appropriate comments during interactions (e.g., "you're bored with that one" when the infant pushes a toy away) reflected an underlying attunement with the infants' mental state. Meins argued that the parents' capacity or willingness to understand the infant's perspective could be a unique mechanism, beyond sensitive behaviour, in developing attachment security. Although MM was seen as an attempt to complement and refine the measurement of sensitivity to fill the transmission gap, it is important to note that it is seen as a distinct predictor of attachment and separate to sensitive behaviour and recognises that both may play a unique role in attachment transmission (McMahon & Bernier, 2017).

Despite the theoretical view of MM offering the key to bridging the transmission gap, few published studies have examined empirical associations between MM and infant, child or parent attachment. McMahon and Bernier (2017) reviewed twenty years of research on MM. They searched for articles specifically relevant to MM and parent-child relationships and where the coding of MM predominantly followed the coding manual. Ninety papers were found, with only 67 in English. Less than ten of these examined associations between MM and attachment, and even fewer tested MM as a potential mediator in the relationship between parent and infant or child attachment.

MM can be assessed in two ways; both rely on analysing verbatim transcripts of caregiver discourse (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). The first is an observational measure where MM comments are derived from the parents' verbal references to their infants' mental states during free play interactions with their infants. The second is the representational/interview measure, which assesses the caregiver's spontaneous tendencies to refer to the internal mental states of their child when asked to 'describe your child'. The representational/interview measure has typically been used with older children, and the observational measure with

infants. The observational method allows for the coding of parent-to-infant comments as appropriate or non-attuned, whereas the accuracy of the parents' MM statements cannot be inferred using the interview method.

McMahon and Bernier (2017) noted that of the studies they reviewed, 38 used the observational measure of MM and were either conducted at home or in the laboratory. Most studies that examined MM in relation to sensitive behaviour used the observational measure. McMahon and Bernier (2017) reported fourteen studies showing an association between MM and maternal sensitive behaviour, with only two reporting nil findings. They summarized that significant positive correlations were found between the proportion and/or frequency of appropriate MM comments across various maternal sensitivity indices. Interestingly, however, few studies reported on non-attuned comments (e.g., parent says "you love that toy" when the infant is fussing and pushes away the toy). A few did note a negative association or close to no correlation with an overall small effect size between sensitivity and non-attuned comments (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). When considering MM using the observational measure and attachment, a higher proportion of MM comments were associated with secure attachment across seven studies (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). Furthermore, appropriate MM and maternal sensitivity were independent predictors of attachment security, and MM accounted for almost double (12.7%) the variance in attachment that maternal sensitivity (6.5%) did (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). McMahon and Bernier (2017) concluded that parent MM measured in various ways exerts both direct and indirect effects through sensitivity on attachment security and that both MM or parental mentalising and sensitivity had complementary roles with significant direct effects when controlling for other effects.

The potential use of the representational/interview measure of MM with infants warrants further discussion. McMahon and Bernier (2017) identified 33 studies using the interview method. Seven of these examined an association between MM and sensitive

behaviour, and overall a small to moderate association between mind-related descriptors of the child and sensitivity was found. Two studies only found a significant association when positively-valenced mental state descriptors were considered (e.g., 'he's a really *happy* kid' versus 'he used to seem quite *grumpy* a lot of the time'). The child's developmental age was highlighted as important when interpreting MM findings using the two measures. Bernier and Dozier (2003) examined MM using the interview method among mothers of 64 foster children (aged between 6 months and 2 ½ years). They found while MM mediated the relation between the adult state of mind regarding attachment and infant attachment security, MM was negatively related to attachment security. Bernier and Dozier suggested that it may be that many of these comments reflect parents attributing more advanced mental states that are not yet developmentally appropriate in very young infants. The appropriate or non-attuned nature of these comments may therefore be especially important (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). These findings highlight that the observational measure may be a better indicator of MM during infancy.

A complex interplay between MM, sensitivity and parental RF has been found. Rosenblum et al. (2008) examined associations between sensitivity, MM (measured through observation of play) and parental RF (measured via interview). They found that mothers' capacity to reflect on mental states during the interview positively correlated with their references to their child's internal states during the interaction. However, in multivariate analyses, MM comments did not explain significant variance in overall reflective comments; suggesting that while related, observations of MM interactions may reflect a more specific avenue of parents' RF. In other words, RF may be a more global capacity to influence mindrelated comments (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). Riva Crugnola et al. (2018) studied RF, maternal attachment, emotional availability and MM across a group of adolescent and adult mother and infant dyads. They found that the adolescent mothers had higher rates of insecure

attachment, had lower RF, were less sensitive and structured, more hostile and intrusive and made fewer attuned and appropriate mind-related comments than the adult mothers. Arnott and Meins (2007) reported a negative correlation between adult RF and non-attuned mind-related comments, less non-attuned comments were made the higher the adult RF was. The sample size was, however, small.

MM appears to differ across socio-cultural parenting contexts. Fishburn et al. (2017) conducted three studies; the first two found lower MM for adoptive parents compared to biological parents. In their third study, when considering MM across foster carers involved with child protection services and parents involved with child protection services, they found the MM across both groups was identical but lower than the community sample. Across all three studies, nonbiological carers' tendency to describe their children with references to the preadoption or placement experiences was negatively related to MM. The nonbiological carers' descriptions appeared to highlight a tendency to describe their child in relation to their history either with their birth family or in the care system, thus highlighting the specific relational nature of MM.

It appears that MM remains relatively stable and is associated with secure attachment. Meins (1998) found that mothers of securely attached 11-13-month-old infants were more likely to attach meaning to their infant's utterances, and this remained stable from up to 20 months. Meins et al. (2002) in a follow-up at age 3 years, then found that the mothers of the previously classified secure children described their children with proportionally more mind-related descriptors. In exploring the relationship between maternal MM, perspective-taking abilities of the child and attachment security at 44 and 51 months, it was found that higher perspective-taking abilities distinguished the stable secure from the stable insecure group and non-attuned comments predicted lower perspective-taking abilities and insecure attachment (Meins et al., 2018). These findings suggest whilst MM appears to remain relatively stable

and is associated with secure attachment, it is impacted by several factors such as sociocultural parenting context, perceptions of the parent in relation to the child's narrative and their perspective-taking abilities.

In addition, it appears that maternal MM is associated with children's socio-emotional development. For example, early MM predicts the child's later theory of mind performance and their capacity to understand other people by ascribing mental states to them (Meins et al., 2002), child behavioural outcomes (Hobby et al., 2022; Sharp & Fonagy, 2008), cognitive development (Meins et al., 2003) and executive functioning (Hill & McMahon, 2016). MM has also been associated with other aspects of parent-child interactions. In particular, MM has been correlated with parents' tendency to provide the infant with autonomy support (Bernier et al., 2010; Bordeleau et al., 2012; Colonnesi et al., 2017; Lundy & Fyfe, 2016). The quality of the attachment relationship and social and emotional development was also noted to be linked to MM (Laranjo et al., 2008; Meins et al., 2013; Meins et al., 2001). Aldrich et al. (2021) conducted a meta-analysis to understand the impact of parental MM on the child's developmental capacities. They concluded that there was a modest (r = 0.14) but significant positive correlation between parental MM and children's positive developmental outcomes. These findings highlight the importance of MM for children's socio-emotional and behavioural development.

From the above research, it is evident that there is a link between maternal sensitivity and attuned mind-related comments, but that sensitivity and MM appear to be independent predictors of attachment security. Further, RF appears to be related to MM, although there is evidence these are distinct constructs and further research is needed to empirically examine associations. Finally, MM appears to be relatively stable and linked with secure attachment.

Parental mental health

Parent-child interactions, including MM, occur within the wider context of parenting. Parents' mental health impacts that of their infant; additionally, the parenting experience and wider context can also impact a parents' mental health (Naughton et al., 2018; Reupert et al., 2013). Parents of young children are at particular risk for mental health difficulties. An audit for a Central Coast Mental Health Service in New South Wales noted that 28% of patients were identified as parents and the Australian Bureau of Statistics data reported that for all Australian children, 23.3% lived in a family with parental mental illness (Maybery et al., 2009). Further 2005 data reflects this estimate of almost one-quarter of Australian children living with a parent with a mental illness (Naughton et al., 2018). Tobias et al. (2009), exploring New Zealand data, noted that sole parents had a significantly higher prevalence of mental illness than partnered parents. A United Kingdom study has noted that up to one in five young people lives in families with a parent with a mental illness. A study that combined the 2008 to 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) data found 12.8 million parents (18.2%) had any mental illness in the past year, and 2.7 million parents (3.8%) had a severe mental illness in the prior year (Stambaugh et al., 2017). Together these findings indicate a substantial number of children are being raised by parents experiencing mental health difficulties across the globe.

The mental health of a parent can have a substantial impact on their children. An infant can be effected by parental mental health through shared genetic predisposition as well as the parent's mental health impacting their availability to their infant and specific parenting behaviours (Goodman & Gotlib, 1999). Research indicates that having a parent with mental illness puts the child at a 33% risk of developing a mental illness themselves (Leijdesdorff et al., 2017; Naughton et al., 2018; Reupert & Maybery, 2016). The mental health of a parent also increases the risk of poor school performance or dropping out of school, difficulties with

peer relationships and social skills, behavioural and development difficulties and challenges with day-to-day living (Leijdesdorff et al., 2017; Naughton et al., 2018; Reupert & Maybery, 2016). It was also noted that children of parents with mental health difficulties had lower rates of perceived competence and, in adulthood, had higher substance abuse rates (Reupert & Maybery, 2016). In addition, the more severe and the longer the exposure to parental mental health problems, the greater the distress in adulthood (Kamis, 2021). A child's physical health may also be negatively impacted by parental mental health (Wolicki et al., 2021). A parent's mental ill-health can therefore have far-reaching impacts on the infant and extend into their later life.

Limited research on an association between parental mental health and MM is available, and results vary. McMahon and Meins (2012) found that there was an indirect relationship between MM and negative maternal behaviour and that this was mediated through parenting stress. The mothers who reported lower parenting stress and showed less hostility in their interactions with their child used more mental state words to describe their child. MM was unrelated to maternal depression or perceived social support (Meins et al., 2011; Pawlby et al., 2010).

In their two studies exploring MM between adoptive and biological parents, Fishburn et al. (2017) found lower MM for the adoptive parents compared to the biological parents. Fishburn et al. (2017) second study noted that this group difference was independent of parental mental health and was also not fully explained in terms of children's behavioural difficulties. No differences in MM scores were found when comparing mothers with severe mental health problems with a community group or maternal psychological well-being. Yet, other research has found modest correlations between depression symptoms and parenting stress (Hill & McMahon, 2016). McMahon and Bernier (2017) noted that emerging evidence suggests that the tendency for MM to be present before childbirth may be associated with

traits such as personality or mental health. Specifically, those aspects are related to attunement to emotional cues and relational capacities.

Studies examining associations between parental depression and MM are mixed, with some reporting no significant correlation (Barreto et al., 2015; Demers et al., 2010c; Fishburn et al., 2017; Meins et al., 2011; Walker et al., 2012) and others reporting a moderate negative correlation (Lok & McMahon, 2006; Rosenblum et al., 2008; Schacht et al., 2013). Lok and McMahon (2006) found that mothers who had clinical levels of depression used less mindrelated comments, and depressive symptoms were moderately related to MM. In addition, the mothers with depressive symptoms were more intrusive, hostile, and less sensitive. Interestingly they also noted that mothers of female children used more mentalising language than those of male children. In an inpatient sample, mothers with a clinical diagnosis of depression appeared to be marginally less MM; however, there was no difference between the in-patient and community samples when comparing various diagnostic groups (depression, bipolar, schizophrenia). Pawlby et al. (2010) noted that on admission, mothers with depression were slightly less likely to make appropriate MM comments about their infant, contrary to their expectations a mother having a severe mental illness did not necessarily make the mothers more likely to less accurately interpret their infant's internal states. Based on their review of the literature, McMahon and Bernier (2017) concluded that MM is likely related to the parent's current mood to some degree.

MM may allow a parent to see the child's behaviour as associated with internal states, rather than perceiving it as intentional, irrational or irritating; McMahon and Meins (2012) argued that this perspective likely reduces parents' stress. Camisasca et al. (2017) findings supported this, with results indicating that higher MM was associated with lower parenting stress. Camisasca and Di Blasio (2014) also explored specific dimensions of parental stress and MM, noting maternal stress can mediate the effect of MM on the child's internalising and

externalising behaviours. They showed that MM predicted parenting stress and child adjustment, further that parenting stress, dysfunctional parent-child interactions, and a difficult child mediated the link between internalising and externalising behaviours and MM. Hobby et al. (2022) findings suggested that specific considerations are needed as some contexts may benefit from different levels of appropriate MM; for example, low parent distress and child internalizing behaviours may benefit from higher appropriate MM while high parent distress and child externalizing behaviours may benefit from moderate levels of appropriate MM. Together these findings suggest an overall negative association between MM and parental stress. However, studies are relatively limited. This is particularly relevant to consider in relation to the current study, which was conducted over the time when COVID was present. Browne et al. (2021) reported the COVID pandemic impacted the family unit, the caregivers and the children, impacting psychological functioning, parenting, family functioning and the children's mental health.

Disorders that impact mentalising and relational capacity appear to be associated with differences in MM. In their review, McMahon and Bernier (2017) noted that compared with adults with no diagnosis, adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) provided fewer mentalistic descriptions of self and others. Kristen et al. (2014) noted lower appropriate MM was linked with caregivers diagnosed with ASD. McMahon and Bernier (2017) reported two limited sample size studies indicated that MM of mothers with Borderline Personality Disorder (BPD) may be compromised; these mothers made almost four times as many non-attuned comments than a community sample. Schacht et al. (2013) found that the capacity for mentalisation was reduced in mothers diagnosed with BPD, the mothers had a reduced understanding of emotions and poorer emotion labelling, and there was a marginal association with lower MM.

It is important to note, however, that this research may be confounded by the potential complexities of coding MM in clinical populations. For example, Pawlby et al. (2010) suggested that mothers with severe mental illness demonstrated lower levels of MM in ways that were not captured by the current coding scheme, such as commenting in an irritated voice about the infants' focus when the infant ignored the parents' bids for attention. It would appear the mother understood the infant's mental state but that the way it was occurring would not improve the quality of the relationship. They suggested that an adapted MM coding scheme may be required for clinical populations.

Non-attuned MM comments are generally less frequent, so they are not as well researched (Hobby et al., 2022). Zeegers et al. (2017) conducted a meta-analysis and noted that non-attuned MM and insecure attachment between the parent-child are strongly associated. In two studies exploring MM and mental illness, Schacht et al. (2017) noted that mothers with significant mental illness scored lower for both appropriate and non-attuned comments than mothers who were psychologically well in their first study. In the second study they found that the mothers with significant mental illness had elevated levels of non-attuned comments.

Easterbrooks et al. (2017) found that post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms in the mother or maternal trauma exposure changed the expected association between MM and regulating the child's behaviour. Further, it was found that for mothers with a trauma history who did not have PTSD, there was a negative correlation between MM and the child's behaviour problems. However, mothers with PTSD showed an opposite pattern – with higher MM associated with greater behaviour problems. This suggests children of mothers with PTSD may become dysregulated by the mother's hyperarousal and hypervigilance in relation to their internal states. A recent study by Camisasca et al. (2017) found that mothers with persistent birth-related trauma symptoms at 17 months after the birth used fewer appropriate

mind-related comments with their infant and reported higher parenting stress, specifically the symptom of hyperarousal predicted both parental stress and MM. Camisasca et al. (2017) noted that MM fully mediated the association between the hyperarousal symptoms and the dysfunctional interactions component of the parenting stress measure. Considering these studies together highlights the impact trauma, and specifically, hyperarousal symptoms appear to have on MM; however, as there are only two studies, further research would be required.

Parental stress is a complex construct and will have many facets. Hayes and Watson (2013) conducted a meta-analysis of parenting stress and suggested that to understand stress it must be compared across different contexts. Kirk and Sharma (2017) researched mothers of children with ASD and concluded that MM did not have a protective effect on parental stress. McMahon (2012) concluded that there was an indirect link between negative maternal behaviours and MM, which was mediated by parenting stress. Exploring MM in parents of preschoolers, Walker et al. (2012) investigated the difference in MM between a clinical and community sample. They explored if there was a relationship between parental MM, depression, parenting stress, and children's emotional and behavioural difficulties. They found that MM in the clinical group was related to parenting stress: increased stress was correlated with lower levels of MM in the clinical group and no association for the community group. MM was negatively correlated with children's emotional and behavioural difficulties in the community group; however, there was no association for the clinical group. It is noted that the clinical samples were also significantly younger and more likely to be single parents. Depression in either the clinical or community group did not appear to correlate with MM. Overall MM was significantly lower in the clinical group than in the community group. There was no difference in the proportion of positive comments between

the two, but the negative mind-related comments were significantly higher in the clinical group.

Considering all the research together, it becomes clear that there are many questions that remain unanswered and gaps in the research. The findings related to parental mental health, stress and MM are inconsistent. It would appear that MM can vary in accordance with the parents' mood, this may indicate that MM would also likely be impacted by the context and social factors at the time, and as noted, the appropriate level of MM may vary depending on the situation or wider context; further research in this area would be useful. Because MM is considered unique to specific relationships, rather than a trait like construct, current parental mental health and stress may impact MM and, therefore, the quality of the parent-child relationship. It is then important to understand how MM relates to mental health in different contexts. In particular, MM may be responsive to intervention and could potentially be targeted to improve long-term outcomes for children (Colonnesi et al., 2013; Demers et al., 2010b; Meynen et al., 2022).

Research to explore the effectiveness of parenting strategies pre and post-intervention by comparing two recorded free play sessions highlighted that shifts in MM could occur. Research pre and post the 'Mindful with your baby/toddler' program included a recorded tenminute free play session at home; the mothers play with their children with age-appropriate toys for five minutes and then without appropriate toys for the other five minutes. The researchers used recorded play to assess sensitivity, acceptance, and MM. The results indicated that maternal sensitivity, acceptance, MM, and dyadic synchronicity changes occurred post the group-based training. Mothers reported less parenting stress, were observed to show more acceptance and made less non-attuned comments than at pre-test, and the children showed higher levels of responsiveness (Zeegers et al., 2019). The researchers compared the MM of the mothers in the study with a non-clinical sample of Dutch mothers

living in the same urban area with similar socioeconomic backgrounds. They found that after the intervention, the mothers' mean levels of non-attuned MM decreased to levels comparable to the non-clinical sample (Zeegers et al., 2019).

The research to date indicates there is an interplay between mental health factors for the parents and that not all mental health struggles a parent may have will impact their MM or not in the same way. Parents with ASD and BPD showed reduced MM; this may indicate that if parents struggle with social communication as in ASD or interpersonal relationships as in BPD, this may hamper their ability to engage in MM with their children. It is noted that varied MM may be required for different contexts, and it may then be the requirement of flexibility and adapting to the context that hampers the MM of these parents, or it may be other factors entirely. At this time, research cannot conclude that parental mental health causes reduced MM or less accurate reflections of the child's mental state, but only that there is a complex interplay where MM is impacted in varied ways by parental mental health. These findings suggest that it would also likely be beneficial to explore the links between MM and various aspects of parental stress and mental health in multiple contexts.

MM, free play and other contexts

It has typically been considered that observation of mother-child interactions is best within the family's own home because behaviour is influenced by the social and physical setting within which the interaction takes place (Dowdney et al., 1984). Methodological issues with direct observation of parent-child interactions were explored by Gardner (2000); the review considered if observational findings are affected by the presence of the observer and if the type of task imposed and the location of the observation had an impact. Gardner concluded that the presence of an observer did not typically distort the nature of the

interaction but suggested that some interactions in structured or artificial settings are not necessarily representative of normal everyday interactions. This particularly refers to more structured or atypical tasks that dyads might be asked to engage in, compared with more naturalistic interactions (e.g., free play). Branger et al. (2019) examined maternal and paternal sensitivity with 109 families with four-month-old infants across four different observational settings; they used a routine caregiver session, a free play episode, the baseline and reunion of the Still Face Paradigm (SFP). They concluded that overall parental sensitivity was higher in more naturalistic contexts.

MM comments are assessed by recording verbatim the comments parents make to their infants during free play. However, in real-world parent-child interactions, MM is unlikely to be restricted to the free play context, most likely occurring throughout the day in a range of parent-child interactions across different contexts. Despite this, we know very little about how MM might present in other parenting interactions. Large differences in the expression of sensitive behaviour were found across different contexts: laboratory, home, observation during feeding, play, task or strange situation (Zeegers et al., 2017). In addition, Farrow and Blissett (2014) assessed maternal sensitivity during free play and feeding; they found that the mothers who provided more mind-related descriptors when asked to describe their infant were rated as being more sensitive in both the feeding and free play contexts, with small to moderate effect sizes. Understanding how MM presents across different parenting contexts will inform future parenting and MM interventions.

A small number of studies have examined parent MM in contexts other than free play. To explore MM and maternal touch, Crucianelli et al. (2019) used a video-recorded 10-minute mother-infant book reading session; they noted that the brief book reading sessions did not have the same sensitivity in predicting other maternal behaviours and recommended that future research explore the reliability in other contexts and across varied durations.

Specifically, they found that non-attuned MM comments were associated with touch behaviours that discouraged affective tactile responses from the infant, but appropriate MM comments did not necessarily predict more emotionally contingent tactile behaviour. This research highlights potential differences across different contexts in the expression and function of MM. As noted in research by Herrera et al. (2004) and Malphurs et al. (1996), mothers with post-natal depression use touch that would be rated as negative and restrictive. Spitoni et al. (2020) note that tactile deficiencies are frequent in psychiatric populations, and they reported that affective difficulties in adults with disorganised attachment reflect the alteration in the perception of affective touch. This research suggests that MM during a book-reading interaction did not necessarily correlate with other maternal behaviours as one might expect MM would, suggesting a need for further research examining MM outside of the free play context.

Planalp et al. (2019) also examined MM in a novel way: mothers, fathers and their infants participated in a SFP at three infant ages and then a one-off Strange Situation (as a measure of attachment security). All sessions were then recorded and coded for MM. In the SFP, the infant is placed in a highchair in a bare room with no toys and only a mirror behind the infant. The SPF procedure included five two-minute episodes following each other, the initial interaction where the mother plays with the infant, the first still-face, then the first reunion again the mother plays with the infant, the second still-face and the second reunion where again the mother plays with the infant. In this novel MM context (i.e., Still Face rather than free play), Planalp et al. found generally expected associations between MM, sensitivity and attachment. Specifically, they found that parents who were less sensitive also made fewer MM comments in the SFP context and that this was associated with insecure-avoidant infant attachment classification. In addition, parents used more non-attuned MM comments when infants had a higher expressed negative affect. This research suggests that, for the SPF

context at least, MM comments outside of the free play context can be meaningfully associated with attachment and parental sensitivity.

McMahon and Newey (2018) also examined MM in relation to the SFP. However, they measured emotional availability during the SFP and examined associations with MM during both free play and reunions following separations in the SSP. It is important to note that MM was coded after the SFP and SSP, both stressful and activating parent-infant contexts. Participants were 76 mothers and their seven-month-olds. Similar to Planalap et al. (2019), McMahon and Newey found that associations between MM measured during a more stressful context generally mirrored those found between MM and correlates in studies using the free play context. Specifically, they found that non-attuned MM comments were moderate to strong indicators of suboptimal emotional availability and more extreme infant affective responses in the SFP. Overall, these studies provide support for the importance of MM across both free play and more demanding parent-infant interaction contexts. In addition, much of the existing MM research is limited by low frequencies of non-attuned comments that cannot be analysed. A more demanding interactive context such as those described here may provide a unique opportunity to examine parents' use of non-attuned MM comments. This study, although small, starts to provide insight into the significance of non-attuned comments as indicators of the quality of the parent-child relationship (McMahon & Newey, 2018).

MM has also been considered in educational settings beyond the home-based caregiving context. Ornaghi et al. (2020) conducted research with teachers using a five-minute interview, from which MM was assessed. The teachers also completed two self-report questionnaires assessing their use of emotion-coaching versus emotions-dismissing socialisation styles and their beliefs about emotions. Ornaghi et al. found that greater MM and belief in discussing emotions with children and instructing them on emotional regulation were associated with higher levels of coaching style behaviours. Further, engaging in

emotional denial, lower MM and believing children should be protected from their emotions were associated with higher levels of dismissing style behaviour (Ornaghi et al., 2020).

The current study coded MM in free play and teaching task sessions. We know of no existing research that has examined MM during a teaching task. However, parental teaching may be an insightful context for examining MM. To learn more about socialisation of sons and daughters, Morrongiello and Dawber (1999) explored the communication of mothers and fathers in both a free play and teaching task. Parents were asked to teach the child a playground behaviour that posed some threat to safety (i.e., going down a firehouse pole). The results highlighted that both the mothers and fathers reacted differently to the sons and daughters and in a similar way. For example, they provided more directives and pressure to sons than daughters. This pattern of findings was consistent with findings from the free play task: with both mothers and fathers reacting differently to sons and daughters. This finding suggests some consistency in parent interaction style in free play and teaching contexts.

McElwain and Volling (1999) studied how marital conflict and depressed mood impacted the intrusive behaviours of mothers and fathers with their infants with the use of timed free play and an open-ended teaching task session. Their results showed differences between the mothers and fathers across the tasks. In the teaching task, the mother's appraisal of marital conflict mediated the impact of her depressed mood on her intrusive behaviours. However, in the free play task, both mothers' and fathers' depressed mood was directly related to less intrusive behaviours. The result highlighted the importance of context in better understanding how parents are impacted by depressed mood and marital conflict. Interestingly, these findings also suggest that the teaching task is more challenging and interactive and may be more likely to reflect individual differences in emotionally based behaviours than free play.

The current study

MM would appear to be a key construct in explaining the intergenerational transmission gap of attachment. Gaps in the current literature include: (1) limited understanding of the relationship between MM and parent mental health; and (2) limited consideration of parental MM outside of the free play context.

This study aims to understand if there is an association between observed MM during infancy and parental mental health and well-being. We predicted that higher parental symptoms of depression, anxiety, stress and difficulties in emotional regulation would be associated with fewer appropriate and greater non-attuned MM comments. We also predicted that higher parental reflective functioning would be associated with greater appropriate and fewer non-attuned MM comments.

The second aim of this study was to examine MM comments across free play and a more demanding teaching task context. Moving beyond the free play context to more demanding parenting interactions could allow for greater frequencies of non-attuned MM comments. This particular aspect of MM, the non-attuned comments, is thought to be closely related to differences in parental mental health, but it can rarely be examined due to low frequencies in typical samples and free play contexts. Therefore, we anticipated that this more demanding context might enable a better examination of non-attuned MM comments and that the pattern of associations between MM and parental mental health would be similar in the teaching task as those found in the free play context.

The current research was conducted during the COVID pandemic, and remote data collection via Zoom was used for the sessions to ensure consistency and safety. There is some evidence to support the use of video conferencing and Zoom for the collection of valid parent-infant interaction data. Video conferencing was explored by Gray et al. (2020) as a

qualitative interview strategy concluding that it helps researchers keep costs down and gain access to larger and more diverse participant populations as well as providing the participants with a positive experience. Archibald et al. (2019) explored the feasibility of using Zoom to gather qualitative interview data within a health context. Although the sample was small, results indicated that despite technical difficulties for some, most described the interview experience as highly satisfactory and generally rated Zoom above alternative interview methods such as face-to-face, telephone and other videoconferencing services, platforms and products. Interestingly this research was conducted prior to the COVID pandemic.

Considering the COVID pandemic, Boland et al. (2021) explored the use of Zoom and Skype for qualitative group research. They identified the advantages of videoconferencing applications as being cost-effective and able to reach disparate populations, concluding it is a viable alternative to face-to-face research. They did, however, note that to enhance data quality and the participants' experience, consideration should be given to technical issues, planning, privacy and rapport, as well as the equality of access.

Further, Segal and Moulson (2021) researched parent-infant interaction tasks via Zoom to continue their longitudinal studies in the COVID context. They concluded it was a feasible option with several advantages; it required fewer researchers, had a shorter duration than laboratory-based testing and had ease of recording. The infants were already at home and in a familiar environment, so less time was required for them to become acquainted with the testing environment. Challenges were also noted in that not all parts of their study were amenable to remote testing; the reliance on Zoom limited the viewpoint to a single recording and one angle (which may be advantageous in some settings but not in others). If a consistent play item is required, this then involves additional complexity to reliably get this to each participant or adapt to the lack of consistency. Security and participant privacy were also special considerations they reported needed to be kept in mind.

Conducting research during COVID, Shin et al. (2021) explored the advantages of remote data collection with mother-infant dyads. They noted that the quality of data obtained via online was comparable to that obtained in laboratory settings. They did note that researchers would sometimes need to direct participants back towards camera angles if they looked away and that some participants needed additional support and instruction to use technology. They also noted the importance of using the HIPAA-compliant version of the Zoom platform to ensure participant privacy.

Overall, research indicates that the use of Zoom is an acceptable option for capturing nuanced parent-infant interaction data that can be reliably coded. Conducting the research in the participants' homes via Zoom may also ensure a beneficial naturalistic setting for parents of infants.

Chapter 2 Methodology

Introduction

This study explores how parental mental health is associated with observed MM during infancy and if MM comments differ across free play and teaching tasks. Further, the study explores if parental mental health indicators are differentially associated with appropriate and non-attuned MM comments in teaching tasks compared with free play tasks. Data for this study was drawn from a broader set of data gathered across Australia and New Zealand study: the Parental Wellbeing Study.

Ethics

Prior to the recruitment of participants in New Zealand, ethical approval for the study was gained from the University of Waikato Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC Health) (Appendix A – Ethics approval) for research with humans (2020#82). In addition, data was gathered in Australia, and ethical approval for data collection in Australia through the University of Wollongong HREC was gained (2020/047).

Method

Participants

Participants were recruited through advertisements via Facebook on groups focused on parenting, daycare centres, community pages and grapevine pages. Participants were recruited in both Australia and New Zealand. The basic advert remained the same with a few

iterations to keep it fresh and to encourage new participants (Appendix B –Research advertisement).

The advert highlighted our desire to recruit parents and their six- to eighteen-month-old infants to voluntarily participate in our study focusing on parental wellbeing and attachment. The participant information sheet (Appendix C – Participant information sheet) and a consent form (Appendix D – Consent form) were sent to all that responded with interest in participating. Once participants provided consent, sessions were booked, and the participants were asked to complete an online survey, parent interview and a parent-child play session. This study only used data from the online survey and the parent-child play session.

The voluntary nature of this research was highlighted in the consent form and when participants were contacted. Exclusion criteria for parents were not being fluent in English and not being a primary caregiver for the infant. Exclusion criteria for infants were a significant developmental or health issue that would impact the capacity to participate in the play interaction. Several participants in this study spoke other languages, including Te Reo Māori, German, Afrikaans and Spanish. In some instances, the parents spoke during the free play or teaching tasks in other languages other than English, and translations were done where possible.

The final sample comprised 62 dyads, 31 from Australia and 31 from New Zealand. The sample was primarily mothers (n = 56), with 32 sons and 30 daughters. Parent ages ranged between 23 and 45 years (M = 32.26, SD = 4.39). Most participants were Australian or New Zealand European, with one Latin American dyad, one American dyad, two European dyads, two English dyads, three South African dyads and five Māori dyads.

The online survey aimed to measure different aspects of health and wellbeing and obtain demographic information. The online survey included a participant information sheet (Appendix C – Participant information sheet) and informed consent (Appendix D - Consent form). Demographic information was collected, some of which was not used in this study, such as COVID-related information. Measures used from the online survey in the current analyses are described below.

Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 (DASS-21; Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995; see

Appendix F – Depression, anxiety and stress scale (DASS-21)). The DASS is a 21-item scale with three self-report sub-scales designed to measure the emotional states of depression, anxiety, and stress over the previous week. Seven items are included per scale, and items are scored on a four-point scale of relevance. The measure is reported to have good internal consistency with Cronbach alpha's ranging from (α.82-.93) for the three scales (Henry & Crawford, 2005).

Difficulties with Emotion Regulation (DERS; Gratz & Roemer, 2004) (see Appendix G – Difficulties in emotion regulation scale (DERS)). The DERS is a 36-item self-report measure of emotional awareness and regulation difficulties. Items are rated from 1 to 5, with higher scores indicating greater emotion regulation difficulties. DERS assesses six facets of emotional regulation: non-acceptance of emotional responses, difficulties in engaging in goal-directed behaviour, impulse control difficulties, lack of emotional awareness, limited access to emotional regulation strategies, and lack of emotional clarity. DERS is reported to have high internal consistency (α =.93) and Cronbach alpha coefficients of .80 for each subscale (Gratz & Roemer, 2004). For this study, the total DERS score was considered.

The Parental Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (PRFQ; Luyten, Mayes, Sadler, Fonagy, Nicholls, Crowley & Slade, 2009). The PRFQ has a full scale of 39 items which was administered; of this 18 questions for a shortened version were used for this study (see

Appendix H – Parental reflective functioning questionnaire (PRFQ)). This 18-item self-report measure is rated on a 7-point Likert-type scale that assesses parental curiosity regarding their child's mental state (Luyten, Nijssens, et al., 2017). It contains three subscales: prementalising, certainty about mental states and interest and curiosity. It is reported to have good internal consistency across the subscales, ranging from $\alpha = .70$ to .82 (Luyten, Mayes, et al., 2017). Cronbach's alpha values for the current sample subscales were: pre-mentalising $(\alpha = .64)$, certainty about mental states $(\alpha = .81)$ and interest and curiosity $(\alpha = .73)$.

Parent-child play sessions

The parent-child play sessions were recorded via Zoom, including ten minutes of free play between the parent and infant, followed by ten minutes of the parent teaching the infant a task from a list provided (Appendix E – Teaching task list). Researchers only added instructions where toys were very noisy and interfered with the recording or if the parent or infant could not be seen or heard. During the recording of both sessions, the researchers' video was switched off, and the sound was muted to reduce observer impact.

The recorded sessions were transcribed verbatim into individual comments or idea units. Only comments made by the parent to the infant were then coded as MM if they were mind-related comments. Mind-related comments are defined in the MM manual as "any comment that (a) uses an explicit internal state term to comment on what the infant may be thinking, experiencing or feeling; or (b) 'puts words into the infant's mouth' with the caregiver talking on the infant's behalf." (Meins & Fernyhough, 2015, p. 5).

MM was coded as per the Meins and Fernyhough (2015) coding manual. Comments in both the free play and teaching tasks were coded into one of four categories: (1) Positive attuned MM comments, where the comment is positively valenced and matches the infant's mental state; (2) Appropriate negative MM comments, where the comment is negative in

nature and matching the infant's mental state; and (3) Positive and negative non-attuned MM comments, where the comments were positive or negative, but non-attuned or in contradiction to the infant's state. Although this was the initial coding, it is noted in the results that non-attuned positive and negative comments were grouped together for analysis due to low frequencies. To establish inter-rater reliability, two researchers coded 14 play sessions separately and then compared results. This made up 22.6 % of all the data coded. Interrater reliability for coding MM comments as appropriate (positive or negative) and non-attuned (where positive or negative non-attuned comments were combined) was $\kappa = 0.7$, representing the substantial agreement between coders (Cohen, 2016; McHugh, 2012). All disagreements in coding were reviewed and discussed until a consensus was reached. The average percentage of inter-rater reliability was 88.17%, with a range of 60% -100%.

Data analysis

All data analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS v.26. There was a single case outlier in the teaching task; the transcript was checked, identified as an accurate outlier, and corrected (Kutner et al., 2004). Following this, skewness and kurtosis values fell within ± 2, considered acceptable (George & Mallery, 2016). Bivariate correlation analyses were conducted to examine associations between continuous variables and independent samples t-tests for dichotomous variables to examine the differences across free play and the teaching task contexts. One-way ANOVAs were calculated for variables with more than two categories. Multi-variable linear regression analyses were used to test unique associations (after controlling for covariates) of parent mental health variables with MM variables across both free play and teaching tasks.

Chapter 3 Results

Descriptive and Preliminary analyses

A power analysis was performed for sample size estimation. With an alpha = 0.05 and power = 0.80, the projected sample size needed with a small to medium effect size (using Cohen's [1988] criteria) was approximately N = 34 to N = 64 (G*Power 3.1). Sixty-five online surveys, sixty-three free play sessions and sixty-four teaching task sessions were completed. In the New Zealand data, one respondent completed the online survey but then did not participate in any further portions of the research, which meant that online survey data was excluded. One set of parent-child free play and teaching tasks from both the Australian and New Zealand data were excluded as either one or both could not be sufficiently transcribed as too much of the interaction was not in English. The final sample consisted of 62 dyads, 31 from Australia and 31 from New Zealand.

Household income distributions for the sample are shown in Table 1. Three parents did not indicate their household income status. The majority of the respondents (43.5%) had a household income of between \$80 000 and \$120 000 annually.

All MM variables were divided by the total individual comments or 'idea units' in order to control for parental verbosity. Square root transformation was conducted for the non-attuned MM comments for both the free play and teaching tasks. In addition, in the teaching task, there was a single case outlier; the transcript was checked, identified as an accurate outlier, and corrected (Kutner et al., 2004). Following this, skewness and kurtosis values fell within ± 2 , considered acceptable (George & Mallery, 2016).

Table 1.

Exploration of the household income status of the sample

	n	%
Household income <\$80,000 annually (up to \$1538 weekly)	12	19.4%
\$80 000 - \$120 000 annually (\$1139 to \$2307 weekly)	27	43.5%
>\$120 000 annually (\$2307 and above weekly)	20	32.3%

Key differences in MM and mental health variables were examined as a function of the two cohorts: Australia and New Zealand. New Zealand parents (M = 0.10) used proportionately more appropriate positive MM comments during free play compared with Australian parents (M = 0.07), t = -2.03, p = 0.05. In contrast, Australian parents used proportionately more appropriate positive MM comments (M = 0.16) during the teaching task compared with New Zealand parents (M = 0.09), t = 3.214, p = 0.002.

Independent sample t-tests were conducted to examine differences in key MM and mental health variables as a function of child and parent gender. There were no significant differences based on child gender. There was a significant difference for MM appropriate positive comments during free play, t = -2.43, p = 0.04, with mothers using them proportionately more (M = 0.09) compared with fathers (M = 0.06). A one-way ANOVA was

conducted to examine differences in key MM and mental health variables as a function of the three household income groups as explored in Table 1. No significant differences were found.

Table 2 explores the correlations found between parental age, child age and sibling numbers. A weak negative correlation (r = -0.31) was noted between parental age and appropriate negative MM comments in the teaching task. In addition, a weak negative correlation (r = -0.34) between parental age and anxiety symptoms was noted from the DASS scores (Akoglu, 2018).

Table 3 explored the descriptive statistics for the DASS, PRFQ and DERS; it provides the range, mean and SD of the participants' scores on these items.

Table 4 provides the descriptive statistics for the parents' MM comments across both the free play and teaching tasks.

Inferential statistics

Paired sample t-tests were calculated to examine whether there were significant differences in parents' use of MM comments across the free play and teaching tasks (seeTable 4). While parents spoke more overall in the free play task (t = 4.31, p < 0.001), they made significantly more appropriate positive (t = -3.05, p = 0.003) and negative (t = -3.67, p < 0.001) comments in the teaching task compared with the free play task.

 Table 2.

 Correlations related to parental age, child age and sibling numbers

	Parent age		Chile	Child age		Number of	
	(yea	ars)	(moi	nths)	siblings		
	r	p	r	p	r	p	
Free play task							
MM appropriate positive	0.02	0.88	0.05	0.68	0.15	0.26	
MM appropriate negative	-0.10	0.43	0.17	0.18	0.05	0.73	
MM non-attuned	0.07	0.60	0.03	0.85	0.03	0.82	
Teaching task							
MM appropriate positive	0.12	0.34	0.15	0.25	-0.02	0.90	
MM appropriate negative	-0.31	0.02	-0.10	0.45	0.06	0.63	
MM non-attuned	-0.17	0.19	0.08	0.52	-0.13	0.31	
DASS scores							
Depression symptoms	-0.10	0.42	0.17	0.18	-0.01	0.93	
Stress symptoms	-0.18	0.17	0.03	0.84	0.18	0.17	
Anxiety symptoms	-0.34	0.01	-0.12	0.35	0.01	0.93	
PRFQ							
Pre-mentalising	-0.14	0.29	-0.03	0.81	0.000	1	
Certainty about mental	0.12	0.25	0.07	0.60	0.04	0.77	
states	-0.12	0.35	-0.05	0.68	-0.04	0.77	
Interest and curiosity	-0.10	0.45	-0.10	0.46	-0.02	0.90	
DERS total	-0.02	0.87	0.02	0.86	0.17	0.19	

Note: values in bold indicate a significant correlation at p < .05.

Table 3.

Descriptive statistics DASS, PRFQ and DERS

	Range	Mean	SD
DASS			
Depression	0 - 13	3.34	3.42
Anxiety	0 - 10	1.74	2.32
Stress	0 - 16	6.65	3.59
PRFQ			
Pre-mentalising mode	1 – 4.33	1.63	0.59
Certainty about mental states	2 - 5.83	3.69	0.98
Interest and curiosity in mental states	4.17 - 7	6.32	0.58
DERS	47 - 122	87.79	13.34

Table 4.

Descriptive statistics for parent MM across both free play and teaching tasks

	Free play		r	Feaching tas	k	Paired sample t-test		
	Mean	SD	Range	Mean	SD	Range	t	p
Appropriate positive MM	0.09	0.06	0 - 0.24	0.12	0.09	0 - 0.40	-3.05	0.003
Appropriate negative MM	0.01	0.01	0 - 0.05	0.02	0.02	0 - 0.08	-3.67	< 0.001
Non-attuned MM	0.09	0.08	0 - 0.27	0.10	0.10	0 - 0.39	-0.35	0.727
Total turns	128.26	59.48	27 - 256	90.48	44.11	19 - 255	4.31	< 0.001

Note. MM = mind-mindedness; non-attuned MM is a combination of both positive and negative comments; all variables are proportions (MM comments divided by idea units)

Correlation analyses

An exploration of the DASS sub-scales and their correlations with MM is shown in Table 5. A weak positive correlation was noted between appropriate negative MM comments and parental stress symptoms of the DASS in the free play task (r = 0.34). In the teaching task, a weak positive correlation was noted between appropriate negative MM comments and parental stress (r = 0.31) and parental anxiety (r = 0.37) symptoms of the DASS. MM non-attuned comments in the teaching task had a weak negative correlation with DASS stress symptoms (r = -0.35).

The correlation between the PRFQ subscales of pre-mentalising modes, certainty about mental state and interest and curiosity in mental state is explored in Table 6. A weak positive correlation was noted between negative MM comments and non-attuned MM comments and pre-mentalising modes in the teaching task (r = 0.29 and r = 0.25, respectively).

Correlations between DERS and MM comments are shown in Table 7. A positive correlation was noted between appropriate negative MM comments in the teaching task and the DERS total; this was, however, noted to be weak (r = 0.27). Higher scores on the DERS indicate more difficulty in emotion regulation. There was a weak negative correlation between non-attuned MM comments and the DERS total scores in the teaching task (r = -0.31).

Table 5.

Correlations between DASS-21 subscales and MM

	Depression		Stress		Anxiety	
	r	p	r	p	r	p
Free play task						
MM appropriate positive	-0.12	0.35	-0.02	0.87	-0.21	0.10
MM appropriate negative	0.16	0.21	0.34	0.01	0.19	0.14
MM non-attuned	0.47	0.72	-0.15	0.26	0.01	0.94
Teaching task						
MM appropriate positive	-0.14	0.28	-0.12	0.36	-0.22	0.09
MM appropriate negative	0.18	0.17	0.31	0.01	0.37	0.003
MM non-attuned	-0.24	0.06	-0.35	0.01	-0.18	0.16

Note: r in bold indicates a significant correlation.

Table 6.

Correlations between PRFQ subscales and MM

	Pre-mentalising modes		Certainty about mental state		Interest and curiosity in mental states	
	r	p	r	p	r	p
Free play task						
MM appropriate positive	0.03	0.80	-0.15	0.25	-0.06	0.65
MM appropriate negative	0.07	0.61	-0.13	0.30	-0.03	0.79
MM non-attuned	0.23	0.07	-0.07	0.59	-0.23	0.07
Teaching task						
MM appropriate positive	-0.11	0.39	-0.06	0.62	0.06	0.63
MM appropriate negative	0.29	0.02	-0.20	0.13	0.04	0.79
MM non-attuned	0.25	0.05	-0.05	0.68	-0.25	0.05

Note: r in bold indicates a significant correlation.

Correlations between DERS and MM

Table 7.

DERS Total		
r	p	
-0.01	0.93	
-0.01	0.93	
-0.21	0.10	
-0.18	0.17	
0.27	0.04	
-0.31	0.01	
	-0.01 -0.01 -0.21 -0.18 0.27	

Note: r in bold indicates a significant correlation.

Regression analyses

Three stepwise linear regression models were created to test unique predictors of parent MM comments. All Durbin-Watson values were close to two, and there were no outliers identified in the regression plots. Parental mental health and covariates were entered in each model in a stepwise fashion. Independent variables were selected based on significant univariate analyses; models are shown in Table 8. For the first regression model, parent MM appropriate negative comments during free play were regressed onto parent stress symptoms. Parents with higher stress symptom scores on the DASS made more negative appropriate

MM comments during free play, with stress explaining 11.7% of the variance in MM appropriate negative comments. For the second model (appropriate negative MM comments in the teaching task), parent anxiety and stress symptoms, PRFQ pre-mentalising and DERS total scores were entered. Only parent anxiety symptoms were a unique predictor, explaining 12.1% of the variance in appropriate negative MM comments during the teaching task. For the final model (non-attuned MM comments in the teaching task), stress symptoms, PRFQ pre-mentalising and DERS were entered. Stress and PRFQ pre-mentalising were retained, together explaining 23.2% of the variance in non-attuned MM comments during the teaching task.

Table 8.

Stepwise linear regression analyses.

	В	SE B	β	t	p
Free play: MM appropria	te negative				
Stress	0.001	0.000	0.343	2.825	0.006
Teaching task: MM appro	priate negati	ive			
Anxiety	0.003	0.001	0.368	3.070	0.003
Teaching task: MM non-a	ttuned				
Stress	-0.012	0.003	-0.419	-3.592	< 0.001
PRFQ: pre-mentalising	0.058	0.020	0.340	2.915	0.005

Conclusion

Several correlations were noted as well as differences and similarities in the amount and type of MM comments. Parental stress, anxiety, pre-mentalising modes and their emotional regulation appeared to have an impact on MM comments they made with their children. Differences in MM comments across the two samples were also noted as well as differences across the MM comments made in free play and the teaching task. The discussion will explore these in further detail to glean more information about their meaning.

Chapter 4 Discussion

Parental MM has key implications for the developing parent-infant attachment relationship, so research to understand parental variables associated with MM is important. This study focused on exploring MM comments made by parents with their 6-18-month-old infants and associations with parent mental health indicators: depression, anxiety, stress, difficulties with emotion regulation, and RF. In addition, to better understand parent MM across more naturalistic and potentially challenging or demanding contexts, we wanted to explore the association between observed MM during infancy and parental mental health in both the traditional free play context as well as during a teaching task interaction. We predicted that higher parental symptoms of depression, anxiety, stress and difficulties in emotional regulation would be associated with fewer appropriate and greater non-attuned MM comments. Concerning the different interaction contexts, we predicted that the pattern of associations with parental mental health and free play MM comments would be similar in the teaching task context, indicating that MM occurs across multiple contexts in infants' lives. We also expected that the more demanding nature of the teaching task would enable the identification of an association between parental mental health symptoms and non-attuned MM comments, which typically occur at frequencies too low for statistical analysis in free play among community samples. A number of associations were found between parental mental health indicators and MM. Parental stress was significantly associated with appropriate negative MM comments in the free play context, and anxiety symptoms were significantly associated with appropriate negative MM comments in the teaching task. Parent stress and pre-mentalising were significantly associated with non-attuned MM comments in the teaching task, with higher pre-mentalising (a marker of difficulties with parent mentalising) associated with more non-attuned MM comments and greater stress associated

with fewer non-attuned MM comments. The findings will be discussed in detail; please note that for ease of interpretation, our second aim (related to the examination of MM across the two contexts: free play and teaching task) is discussed first. Furthermore, it is important to consider this study and its results in light of its context, as the COVID pandemic was at play during the Australian and New Zealand data collection stages. Although it is outside of the scope of this study to explore the impact of COVID in-depth, and as such, COVID is only briefly explored, the reader is urged to keep in mind that COVID-related practical matters or psychological impacts may have impacted the data obtained.

MM across the teaching task and free play

In this research, we reviewed MM across both the traditional free play context and a more demanding parental teaching task. Parenting occurs across multiple contexts, so it was important to examine MM beyond the free play situation. In addition, a more demanding context, such as a teaching task, may better allow for the coding of appropriate versus non-attuned MM comments, with the latter infrequently occurring in community samples during free play. The data from this study showed that parents tended to speak more overall in the free play task but made proportionately more appropriate positive and negative MM comments in the teaching task. Counter to our predictions; the teaching task did not elicit higher proportions of non-attuned MM comments.

The limited research to date suggests that more structured or demanding tasks may be more likely to elicit differences in parenting behaviours associated with parent mental health difficulties. Ginsburg et al. (2006) had mothers with anxiety and mothers without engage in both a structured and an unstructured interaction task with their 5 year old children. They found higher levels of parenting behaviours of overcontrol, anxiety, and criticism in the

structured task. We expected that this may have parallels to our findings with parental MM during infancy. In our sample, parents spoke significantly less in the teaching task compared to the free play; however, they made significantly more appropriate MM comments in the teaching task, and this difference was found for both positive and negative appropriate MM comments. This difference of less overall talk but more appropriate MM talk in the teaching task may reflect an increased focus on the infant and the task at hand as a result of the session being structured to reach a goal of teaching the child a particular task. Specifically, the greater appropriate comments may reflect the parent 'tuning in' to attempts to direct the child more and acknowledge the child's experience. A more in-depth discussion of associations between parental reflective capacity and MM is found later in the discussion.

Our findings represent the first examination of MM within a parent-infant teaching task and suggest this as a useful context for examining MM. Further research is required to explore how differences in MM across varied contexts might be associated with child socioemotional, behavioural and cognitive outcomes. Specifically, it will be important to consider whether MM comments in the teaching context are associated with child outcomes (e.g., theory of mind (Arnott & Meins, 2007; Centifanti et al., 2016), emotion understanding (Meins, 2013a; Meins et al., 2013)) in a similar way to MM in the free play context.

There may be an overall benefit to more MM comments in general, yet, there may be more situational-specific nuances where MM comments in a particular context may be more helpful for specific developmental outcomes. As noted by Hobby et al. (2022), there are times when either higher or lower MM may be more appropriate. In structured or objective achievement-focused tasks, such as a teaching task, fewer but more focused and appropriate comments may be more useful. That is, when there is a specific goal in mind when interacting with an infant, it may be more relevant to focus comments on the task, reducing the overall verbosity. The increase of appropriate comments may reflect a strength-based

parenting approach of encouraging the infant and reflecting on how the infant relates to the task. Future research would be useful to explore the parental MM across various tasks and the relevance of higher or lower MM and verbosity. For example, it may be useful to explore teaching tasks that are appropriate for the infant versus those the infant will not be able to complete. For the current teaching task, parents were asked to choose a task (from a list) which their child could not yet do, but which they expected they could achieve soon.

Choosing a task more developmentally 'out of scope' may further highlight differences in use of appropriate MM comments to support children's learning. In this way, appropriate MM comments can potentially be viewed as parental scaffolding, a Vygotskian concept that describes parents as a more informed partner, supporting their child to learn through the provision of developmentally appropriate support (Aldrich et al., 2021). It may also be helpful to interview the parents alongside the coded material to obtain their thoughts about the interaction and their intentions.

MM and parental depression, anxiety and stress in free play and the teaching task

Research (McMahon & Bernier, 2017; Pawlby et al., 2010) has highlighted an association between greater depressive symptoms and fewer MM comments in free play contexts. However, contrary to predictions, this study found no association between parental depression symptoms and MM. Whilst inconsistent with some research this is consistent with Walker et al. (2012), where depression was found to be unrelated to MM in either the community or clinical samples they studied, highlighting the complexity of these constructs and interactions. The difference in findings may relate to sample differences. While both Pawlby et al. and Walker et al. compared clinical and community samples, Pawlby et al. examined mothers of infants with severe mental health problems from an inpatient unit,

whereas Walker et al. examined parents of 3-5 year old children, where the clinical status was based on the child referral to a community mental health service. Further research is needed to examine MM within samples of parents with severe or chronic mental health difficulties.

Understanding how parent mental health relates to MM for 'high risk' parents can then inform interventions for these populations (Judd et al., 2018; Schacht et al., 2017)

We found no significant findings related to parent anxiety and MM in the free play sessions, but there was an association within the teaching task. In the teaching task, greater parental anxiety symptoms were associated with greater appropriate negative MM comments. Our measure of parental anxiety may reflect some underlying parental traits, such as conscientiousness (Fan, 2020; Widiger & Costa Jr, 2002). Alternatively, this association may reflect emerging differences in parenting styles. Research has shown that authoritative parenting styles, which can include demandingness and responsiveness, positively influence children and adolescents' life domains of education and psychological wellbeing (Bibi et al., 2013; Nyarko, 2011). It may be that the greater appropriate negative MM comments reflect a more conscientious parenting style among parents who also have higher anxiety symptoms. Further research measuring parental personality and conscientiousness alongside MM and mental health could help understand these relationships.

Our findings reflect the inconsistent research results to date regarding anxiety and MM. Fishburn et al. (2017) found inconsistent results across their three samples of adoptive, foster and child protection notifications, with either no association or a modestly significant association with MM and anxiety. Using samples of school-age children and young adults, Pequet and Warnell (2021) found that where social anxiety levels were higher, MM towards close social partners was also higher. Further research regarding how MM and anxiety are associated would be beneficial. It would be helpful to explore the differences in anxiety and MM across different samples and within different populations (clinical and non-clinical

samples). It may also be helpful to gain a more in-depth measure of parental anxiety: particularly the chronicity of anxiety over time, as research shows persistent parental anxiety is associated with poorer outcomes for children (Fellow-Smith, 2005; Wallrath et al., 2020; Zelkowitz et al., 2009).

Our findings indicated that greater parental stress symptoms were associated with more appropriate negative MM comments in the free play task. In contrast, prior research indicated a negative association between parental stress and MM, with greater stress associated with fewer MM comments. Interestingly, however, greater stress scores were associated with greater appropriate negative MM comments. It may be that stress is linked with a more negative focus or bias (Chang & Overall, 2022; Hemenover, 2001). As this is a non-clinical sample experiencing COVID impacts, our measure of stress may be reflecting parent mental health status among a group of parents who might not otherwise have experienced such difficulties. Hill and McMahon (2016) noted that MM is linked to a broader capacity for self-awareness. It may be that stress increases the parents' self-awareness and also increases their negative focus hence an increase in appropriate yet negative MM comments. Further research is needed to understand whether parent stress is associated with a negative attention bias in other contexts or whether this is specific to the parent-infant relationship. Our measurement of stress may also be impacted by data collection occurring during the COVID pandemic. Adams et al. (2021) reported that parental stress increased over COVID and subsequently did not return to the pre-COVID levels post COVID. This highlights the complexity of COVID related stress. Br et al. (2020) found similar results noting that 37% of their sample of parents felt more stressed after the lockdown and 8% needed counselling or therapy. As noted by Chen et al. (2022), to stop the spread of COVID significant lifestyle changes occurred, in this context parents with less support reported higher parental stress and lower psychological wellbeing. They highlighted that parenting

stress was the strongest predictor of parental psychological distress. This is true in general but likely exaggerated in the COVID context, further research to clarify this would be useful.

Greater parental stress was associated with fewer non-attuned MM comments in the teaching task of this study. One could speculate that in a teaching task, greater parental stress may be associated with greater focus on the infant and task at hand, which is why we see fewer non-attuned comments with more appropriate yet negative MM comments in the free play context. These findings however are in contrast to prior research showing higher parental stress is associated with lower MM (Camisasca et al., 2017; Walker et al., 2012) This prior research, however, generally focused on free play sessions; this may indicate, as Hobby et al. (2022) noted, that different MM levels may be more appropriate in different contexts. In addition, differences in findings may also be explained by sample differences in stress levels. According to the Yerkes-Dodson law of optimal arousal, performance increases with arousal or stress up to moderate levels, and then performance tends to decline at higher levels of stress (Yerkes & Dodson, 1908). The Yerkes-Dodson law has been found to apply to parenting and family contexs (Lisitsa et al., 2021). The prior research showing negative associations between stress and MM were with clinical samples: Walker et al. (2012) had a combined clinical and community sample and Camisasca et al. (2017) examined mothers experiencing post-traumatic stress symptoms following childbirth. It may be that these parents were experiencing higher levels of stress, and therefore 'declining performance' in the form of lower MM during parenting interactions. Although our sample was recruited during COVID, our mean DASS stress score fell within the 'normal' range. This may mean that the parents in our sample were experiencing mild to 'optimal' stress levels, thus enhancing 'performance' in the form of fewer non-attuned MM comments.

Parental RF and MM in free play and the teaching task

RF allows us to see ourselves and others as intentional agents; we develop this capacity based on how well our caregivers reflect on our experiences. RF is considered key to adequate caregiving and forming a secure attachment. In this study, there were no significant associations between parental RF and MM in the free play task; this finding is in line with the literature highlighting parallels between MM and mentalising, while also emphasising that they are distinct constructs (Sharp & Fonagy, 2008). The results from the teaching task however indicated that greater parental pre-mentalising modes were uniquely associated with more non-attuned MM comments. This indicated that parents who were still developing a capacity to hold the child's mental state in mind made more non-attuned MM comments. Research has noted that mentalising and MM have many parallels but differ in their operationalization; MM is a relational quality focusing on the evaluation of the parent-child interactions and reflects aspects of the parent-child attachment relationship; mentalising is a cognitive-behavioural competence indicating metacognitive representations that parents hold about their relationship with their child (Barreto et al., 2015; Laranjo et al., 2014; Sharp & Fonagy, 2008). Parent mentalising describes a parent's capacity to understand their own and the mental state of their child (Camoirano, 2017; Yatziv et al., 2018); it is noted that a child starts off pre-reflective and develops full RF based on the caregiver's mentalising capabilities (Fonagy et al., 1998). In pre-mentalising or non-mentalising modes of thought, there is an impairment in the parents' ability to attain a clear view of the child's inner world. As such, the association with non-attuned MM comments makes theoretical sense. It is important to note that we included the teaching task because non-attuned comments are rare (and therefore difficult to examine statistically) in free play contexts. Although we did not see a statistical difference in the frequency of non-attuned comments across the free play and teaching task

contexts, the current findings do provide some evidence that the teaching task may be an especially salient context within which to examine non-attuned MM and its correlates.

Arnott and Meins (2007) and Rosenblum et al. (2008) also found associations between RF and MM. The association with pre-mentalising modes and increased appropriate yet negative MM comments may indicate the possibility of a staged development of MM; this would require further exploration. It may be that RF and MM are distinct constructs showing no association in the free play, and only a association in the teaching task reflects the impact of parental motives or intent on their ability to be reflective of their child. In free play, parents may not have a goal in mind and may be less driven to get their child to complete a task. As such they may be more able to appreciate the individual psychological agent of the child and accurately perceive the child's intentionality. In the teaching task, the parent may be increasingly focused on completing a task and as such less able to be reflective of the child's intentions. For parents without more advanced RF capacity, the task demands may therefore interfere with the parent's ability to be MM. Further studies to understand the interactions between RF and MM across different tasks may be helpful to gain further insights in this area.

Parental difficulties with emotion regulation and MM in free play and the teaching task

Parental difficulties with emotion regulation were not uniquely associated with any of the MM variables in regression analyses for the free play. Correlation analyses indicated a possible association with greater DERS scores and greater negative appropriate and fewer non-attuned MM comments in the teaching task only. However, DERS scores were no longer significant in the regression analyses once other mental health measures were included. The current findings do suggest a pattern of parental negative affect (anxiety, stress or emotional

dysregulation) associated with greater negative appropriate MM comments. This may reflect that parents who are themselves experiencing more negative emotional states, may in turn focus more on the negative mental states of their child during interactions. This may become transactional over time, whereby their children may also develop a negative bias, meaning a likely increase in parents' negative comments being attuned (Platt et al., 2022; Sfärlea et al., 2019; Waters et al., 2015). It would be interesting to understand the specific dyadic interactions over time through longitudinal research: it may be that parents experiencing mental health symptoms increase the negative affect they model to their children, and this may lead to more negative mental states in the child, which the parent then further attunes to. Future research would also need to explore the impact of negative MM comments on the infant and their later development, even if those comments are appropriate. Consider a parent with greater stress and anxiety with an information processing bias who makes ongoing negative MM comments; whilst they may be appropriate, the potential impacts on the child's perception of their own behaviour remain unknown. Affrunti and Ginsburg (2012) highlight that a child receives a signal from parents with higher levels of overcontrol and parental anxiety that their environment is threatening, which in turn increases their threat appraisal of ambiguous situations and increases their anxiety. A similar mechanism may occur when parents have more appropriate but negative MM comments. It is important to note that a greater proportion of appropriate negative MM comments does not indicate an absence of positive mental state comments. It may be helpful to consider both overall frequencies and proportions in further research examining associations with child outcomes. Finally, as highlighted above, this study used a non-clinical sample, and as such, they may not display the level of emotional dysregulation as seen with mothers who have BPD where their MM appeared to be compromised (McMahon & Bernier, 2017; Schacht et al., 2013).

MM and demographics

The current findings indicated that mothers used more appropriate positive comments proportionally than the fathers in this study. However, this sample included only a very small proportion of fathers (n = 6), and as such further research, including more fathers, would be needed to draw any significant conclusions in this regard. Interestingly, New Zealand parents used proportionally more appropriate positive MM comments in free play than the Australian parents, but the Australian parents used proportionally more appropriate positive MM comments during the teaching task than the New Zealand parents. It is important to note that there were dyads from other cultural backgrounds within each cohort, with some Australian parents currently living in New Zealand and vice versa. However, these preliminary findings may provide some insight into culturally informed parenting behaviours or reflect underlying contextual-specific parenting values and beliefs. Only a handful of studies have specifically examined cross-cultural differences in MM, and most have compared Western European with Asian parents. Dai et al. (2020) explored differences in MM of urban Australian and urban mainland Chinese mothers and their toddlers and concluded that when adjusting for the total number of comments, the Australian mothers made more appropriate mind-related comments and less non-attuned comments than their Chinese counterparts. They noted the findings were consistent with others relating to cultural differences in various parenting and verbal discourse elements. They concluded that their results might be attributed to the cultural and linguistic differences in relation to the focus on the mind. After studying the speech patterns of Japanese and British mothers when talking about their 3- to 6-year-old children, Fujita and Hughes (2021) also highlighted cultural variations in MM. Hughes et al. (2018), in a study with 241 parent-child dyads from Hong Kong and the United Kingdom, concluded that within both cultures, MM was correlated with the theory of mind and cultural differences in the preschoolers' theory of mind were accounted for by MM. It is important to consider also

that while parent MM tends to be associated with child theory of mind and mental state use in Western samples, parental attunment to their child's state of mind may be reflected, and should therefore be measured, in others ways in other cultures (Neha, 2018).

A weak negative correlation was found between appropriate negative MM comments and parental age in the teaching task. This finding is consistent with previous research, which indicated higher MM in older mothers compared to younger mothers (Camberis et al., 2016; Demers et al., 2010a). It could be speculated that as parents age, they may utilize less negative commentary to encourage learning with their children. This may be a result of parental maturation. Camberis et al. (2016) concluded that older mothers had psychological maturity, which meant more adaptive parenting cognitions, which contributes to increased sensitivity and MM. Alternatively, these findings may reflect different parental preferences based on their generation and the type of parenting they were exposed to in their childhood. Specifically, it may be linked to the popularity of a growth mindset (Dweck, 2016) or a variety of other mechanisms. Further research is needed to examine potential associations between parenting values and MM.

A number of other socio-demographic factors not measured here may also relate to MM. For example, multiple parent and infant factors have been associated with parent-child attachment and the parent-infant relationship. Parental factors includeeducation level, job, type of residence, psychosocial support, marital relationship, psychological disorders, single parenting, number of children and family size, number of pregnancies, risk levels in the pregnancy and if it was planned or unplanned, attachment to the foetus during pregnancy, the process of delivery and soon after, effective communication, and life stress among others. Infant factors include if the infant has any health problems or prematurity, infant gender, infant temperament, the birth of siblings, stressful life events such as the loss of a parent, environmental and genetic influences (Darvishvand et al., 2018; Gervai, 2009). Further

research to clarify the impact of these constructs on MM and the interplay between these and MM as part of the development of attachment security would be useful.

Strengths and limitations

Strengths of this research include multiple measures of parent mental health, the novel examination of MM within a teaching task the recruitment of parents across two countries, and the inclusion of both mothers and fathers and the comprehensive coding of both valence and attunement of MM comments. It is important to note that the majority of studies combine positive and negative MM comments (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). The current findings showed associations with parent mental health for appropriate *negative* MM comments only The current findings also showed different patterns for appropriate and non-attuned MM comments. This highlights the importance of coding valence and attunement of MM and considering how these might be differentially associated with child developmental outcomes.

This study was conducted over an extended period and across two countries which managed COVID differently, meaning a varied impact from COVID. To understand more about how this may have impacted this study, we explored data related to the psychometrics used. Crawford et al. (2011) conducted research pre-COVID to determine norms for a general Australian adult sample across several scales, including the DASS-21. These norms are compared with the data from this study. The current sample scores are slightly higher than the norms presented by Crawford et al. for depression (current study M = 3.34, range = 0-37 and SD = 3.42; norms M = 2.57, range = 0-20 and SD = 3.86), and for the stress sub-scale (current study M = 6.65, range = 0-16, and SD = 3.59; norms M = 3.99, range = 0-21, and SD = 4.24). However, the scores for anxiety were very similar (current study M = 1.74, range = 0-10 and SD = 2.32; norms M = 1.74, range = 0-17, and SD = 2.78).

Krink et al. (2018) conducted research with the PRFQ-18 prior to COVID, they were conducting research with mothers who had post-natal depression, so it is a clinical sample. This was then compared with the research done by Goudarzi et al. (2022) in what would have likely been COVID or post-COVID times; their study explored the psychometric properties of the PRFQ-18 for Iranian mothers. The results from these two studies were compared with the descriptive statistics of this study, and the data across all three studies are comparable. Pre-mentalising mode scores for this study M = 1.63, SD = 0.59; Krink et al (2018) M = 1.80, SD = 0.73; and Goudarzi et al. (2022) M = 2.63, SD = 1.32. Certainty about mental states scores for this study M = 3.69, SD = 0.98; Krink et al (2018) M = 3.39, SD = 1.22 and Goudarzi et al. (2022) M = 4.60, SD = 1.02. Interest and curiousty in mental state scores for this study M = 6.32, SD = 0.58; Krink et al (2018) M = 5.87, SD = 0.84; and Goudarzi et al. (2022) M = 5.94, SD = 0.73.

Gratz and Roemer (2004) provided data for undergraduate student men's and women's scores as part of the development and validation of the DERS. Costa et al. (2017) conducted research with parents of typically developing (TD) children and those with Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and examined parent DERS scores. Again, these studies occurred before COVID. DERS scores for the current sample were higher than those previously reported (this study M = 87.79, SD = 13.34; Gratz and Roemer (2004) women M = 77.99, SD = 20.72, men M = 80.66, SD = 18.79; Costa et al (2017) TD parents M = 72.39, SD = 15.42 ASD parent M = 82.59. SD = 21.89).

As no outliers were found for parent mental health measures, the higher scores for depression and stress symptoms and difficulties with emotion regulation are likely to reflect greater symptoms for the sample as a whole. This may reflect the global pandemic's farreaching impacts. Despite this, it is felt this data is relevant as the likelihood of a return to

pre-COVID states is unlikely to occur for some time due to the widespread socio-economic impacts.

COVID potentially reflects a chronic and acute stressor, especially for parents of young children. It may be that we do not reach a pre-COVID state for some time, but rather elevated parent emotional difficulties become a 'new normal' post the pandemic. Wu and Xu (2020) noted an increase in child maltreatment due to COVID. Piquero et al. (2021) and Kourti et al. (2021) reported domestic violence increased with the COVID pandemic. Spinelli et al. (2020) noted the impact of quarantine on the children was mediated by the parents' individual and dyadic stress. Parents were at higher risk of experiencing distress, which could impact their parenting abilities, which may be the reason for the children having more pronounced psychological difficulties. Brown et al. (2020) reported that higher COVIDrelated stressors and high anxiety and depression symptoms were associated with higher perceived stress by the parents. When there was increased parental support and perceived control, this was associated with lower perceived stress by the parents and reduced child abuse potential. Adams et al. (2021) highlighted that their research showed parents' stress had increased substantially during COVID and had not returned to pre-COVID levels; the common stressors that impacted parenting were changes in children's routines, worry about COVID and online school demands. Mahoney et al. (2021) noted a significant increase in access to digital mental health services across New Zealand and Australia. The raised DERS and DASS scores appear to reflect the additional stress that COVID has placed on the participants. The PRFQ results across this study and two comparisons showed more similarities. This may be because RF is considered a more stable trait (Sharp & Fonagy, 2008). Further research would be useful to explore specific COVID stressors and challenges by parents and how this might relate to MM.

Dollberg et al. (2021) explored COVID impacts on Israeli mothers and their preschool children. Compared to the pre-COVID groups, the mothers in the COVID group had higher anxiety and perceived their children to have higher externalizing and internalizing behaviours. They found that when mothers had higher MM, this weakened the indirect effects of anxiety from COVID on the children's externalizing behaviours. These findings indicate the importance of ongoing research and the mediating role MM may play in parent-child interactions in this post-COVID world.

This study collected all data via Zoom, and all research was conducted online from the participants' homes. As described earlier, this may be a strength, allowing parents to engage more naturally with their infants in their home context (Archibald et al., 2019; Segal & Moulson, 2021). Although Branger et al.'s (2019) study related to sensitivity, it is considered relevant as MM and sensitivity are highly related; they found that parental sensitivity was higher in a more naturalistic context. Occasionally, however, conducting research via Zoom in the family home can be problematic. For example, other family members or siblings may have been a distraction.

Not all potential covariates were able to be considered. The small sample size limits the capacity to consider all covariates in multivariable models. In particular, it would be important for future studies on MM to consider differences across only children and children with siblings. Younger children may have the opportunity to see their parent engage in MM with older siblings as well and may benefit from observing this kind of mind-related talk about others. In research regarding the development of the theory of mind, McAlister and Peterson (2007) noted that children benefit from access to child-aged siblings to play and converse with. Ruffman et al. (1998) reported a linear increase in mentalising abilities with the number of older siblings. On the other hand, the increased demand from more children may change the parents' capacity for MM or the consistency of parental MM. Meins and

Fernyhough (1999) noted that additional family members are likely only helpful in these settings if they can be MM. Illingworth et al. (2016) found strong evidence of the stability of maternal representational MM across two children and a partner or friend; they also reported stability of interactional MM across two children. This may mean that a more MM parent will produce more MM children, and as such, increased exposure to a mother and siblings who are MM may be beneficial to the younger sibling or may balance out the increased parenting demand of multiple children and therefore maintain MM across the siblings. Regardless, further research is needed to understand the impact of MM within relationships beyond the parent-child, and particularly mother-child, relationship.

Future research and implications

The findings of this study suggest some associations between specific aspects of parental mental health and MM, in particular more negative MM comments and more non-attuned MM comments. Much of the existing research has grouped positive and negatively valences MM comments together and has rarely examined non-attuned comments statistically (McMahon & Bernier, 2017). The current findings point to the importance of coding these more nuanced aspects of MM.

The direction of causality between parent mental health and MM remains unknown and longitudinal research is needed to explore this. Similarly, the current findings do not explain potential mechanisms that might underlie an association between parent mental health and MM. For parents with PTSD, hyperarousal symptoms in particular were associated with MM, and for parents with depression, hostility and intrusiveness were associated with MM (Camisasca et al., 2017; Lok & McMahon, 2006). Understanding the specific mechanisms that underlie this association is important because these can then be targeted in

future interventions with clinical populations. MM appears to be present before childbirth and relatively stable (Arnott & Meins, 2007, 2008). As such, it may also be important to understand how parental mental health is associated with antenatal MM, and to support parents at risk of mental health difficulties with MM informed interventions during pregnancy. This would likely have benefits for the developing parent-infant relationship (Larkin et al., 2019). In addition, if greater MM also reduces parent stress (McMahon & Meins, 2012), this type of preventative approach may also support maternal mental health during the vulnerable postnatal period.

Further research on MM-based interventions may also be beneficial given the parenting challenges experienced through COVID. While the added complexity of the stress associated with the COVID pandemic may make this data less likely to be able to be generalised to a broader population, it may also be that the increased distress the pandemic has created may make this study more relevant to general clinical populations.

This study explored MM in the teaching task and noted the differences in MM across the free play and teaching tasks; it would be useful for further research to explore MM across multiple contexts. In addition, it would be useful to review if a changed coding strategy is needed for clinical populations or even all populations to reflect the impact of non-verbal communication on the attachment relationship and MM. The standard MM coding scheme may not fully capture the tone and subtle non-verbal cues in the interactions between the parent-infant dyads, particularly for parents with mental health difficulties. Feniger-Schaal et al. (2018) noted through their study with the use of a mirror game, that non-verbal expression is a source of valuable information about interpersonal interactions and the results of their study pointed to a connection between mirror game behaviours and two independent measures of attachment. Secure attachment was associated with richer use of body parts, movement and displayed more shared affect compared with insecure attachment. Lyons-Ruth

et al. (1998) explored implicit relational knowing, referencing the interactional processes between the infant and primary caregiver, which produces in the infant procedural, nonverbal knowledge on how to interact with intimate others; this occurs prior to the availability of language. Pally (2001) noted that matching non-verbal cues were associated with parentinfant attachment. Deepika (2015) highlighted the importance of non-verbal communication and its regulatory functioning in relationships, noting that it sometimes replaces verbal communication. Further, there are specific cultural and gender-specific differences in nonverbal communication. If there is a conflict between verbal and non-verbal communication, Deepika (2015) reported the individual relies on the non-verbal communication. Shai and Meins (2018) explored the two forms of parental mentalising, MM and parental embodied mentalising (PEM). They noted that PEM was positively correlated with appropriate MM comments but was unrelated to the non-attuned MM comments. They found increased attachment security with higher PEM over and above the impact of MM, and they concluded that both verbal and non-verbal expressions of parental mentalising had independent contributions to attachment security. Future research including a focus on both the verbal and non-verbal representation of MM would be useful as there may be similar findings.

Research has shown that an infant will adapt to maintain the security of the attachment to the parent (Hughes & Baylin, 2012). It would be helpful to explore if MM is a mechanism that adjusts the infant's way of being to fit into the parental mindset through a process of modelling and learning and, as such, is a causal factor of attachment transmission. Exploring whether a parent who had an anxious attachment (as an example) with their parent is more likely to feel comfortable with this attachment style and, through MM comments, recreate that same interaction by creating a bias in the infant would be useful. Suppose a parent is pointing out all the appropriate positive comments. In that case, this is likely to have a very different long-term impact compared to a parent pointing out all the appropriate

negative comments as, through attention and reinforcement, different behaviours may occur to gain the type of attention on offer. Future research in this area will be required to gather more information.

It would be useful for future research to explore the impacts of more appropriate negative versus positive MM comments on the infant and the parent-infant relationship. Whilst appropriate comments signal greater attunement with the child's mental state one would need to consider the impact of more positive versus negative comments. It may be that where there is more balance between positive and negative appropriate comments, we see better outcomes. It may be that better outcomes are found where there are more appropriate positive MM comments than appropriate negative or visa versa, or it may be that specific situations require different levels of positive versus negative comments and that overall, a balance is created across the various contexts. There is some indication from parent-child interaction research beyond the MM context that awareness of children's negative emotional states may be especially important. For example, Laible (2011) found that parent in-depth discussion of negative emotional events was more strongly associated with attachment security than discussion of positive emotions, and that discussion of negative but not positive emotions was associated across time with children's socioemotional development. Further research is needed to understand MM in relation to children's negative and positive experiences across different contexts and associations with children's socio-emotional and cognitive development.

Conclusion

MM represents an intriguing reconceptualization of sensitivity and appears to be the potential mechanism through which attachment develops (Meins, 1998). MM and associated

constructs are complex and have an equally complex and dynamic interplay with other constructs. It appears the context, environment, and type of tasks engaged in impact parental MM. Further, parents' mental wellbeing impacts their parenting, MM and their infant; the specific nature of this impact is again complex.

MM appears to offer key information about parent-child interaction and may be a key element in filling the transmission gap. Although not directly measuring attachment or child outcomes, the current findings point to the importance of measuring both positive and negative valence and appropriate and non-attuned nature of MM, across different contexts. Understanding these nuanced aspects of MM alongside independent measures of parent attachment state of mind and parent-infant attachment may help to further our understanding of attachment transmission.

References

- Adams, E. L., Smith, D., Caccavale, L. J., & Bean, M. K. (2021). Parents are stressed! Patterns of parent stress across COVID-19. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12, 626456.
- Affrunti, N. W., & Ginsburg, G. S. (2012). Exploring parental predictors of child anxiety: The mediating role of child interpretation bias. *Child and Youth Care Forum*, 41(6), 517-527. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-012-9186-6
- Ainsworth, M. S., Bell, S. M., & Stayton, D. F. (1974). Infant—mother attachment and social development: Socialization as a product of reciprocal responsiveness to signals. In M. M. Richards (Ed.), *The integration of a child into a social world* (pp. 99-135). Cambridge University Press.
- Akoglu, H. (2018). User's guide to correlation coefficients. *Turkish Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 18(3), 91-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tjem.2018.08.001
- Aldrich, N. J., Chen, J., & Alfieri, L. (2021). Evaluating associations between parental mindmindedness and children's developmental capacities through meta-analysis.

 *Developmental Review, 60, 100946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2021.100946
- Anis, L., Perez, G., Benzies, K. M., Ewashen, C., Hart, M., & Letourneau, N. (2020). Convergent validity of three measures of Reflective Function: Parent Development Interview, Parental Reflective Function Questionnaire, and Reflective Function Questionnaire. Frontiers in Psychology, 11, 574719-574719. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.574719
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International journal of qualitative methods*, 18, 160940691987459. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Arnott, B., & Meins, E. (2007). Links among antenatal attachment representations, postnatal mind–mindedness, and infant attachment security: A preliminary study of mothers and fathers. *Bulletin Menninger Clinic*, 71(2), 132-149. https://doi.org/10.1521/bumc.2007.71.2.132
- Arnott, B., & Meins, E. (2008). Continuity in mind-mindedness from pregnancy to the first year of life. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 31(4), 647-654.
- Barreto, A. L., Fearon, R. M. P., Osório, A., Meins, E., & Martins, C. (2015). Are adult mentalizing abilities associated with mind-mindedness? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 40(4), 296-301. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025415616200
- Bateman, A. W., & Fonagy, P. (2004). Mentalization-based treatment of BPD. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 18(1), 36.
- Belsky, J., Jaffee, S. R., Sligo, J., Woodward, L., & Silva, P. A. (2005). Intergenerational transmission of warm-sensitive-stimulating parenting: A prospective study of mothers and fathers of 3-year-olds. *Child Development*, *76*(2), 384-396. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00852.x
- Bennett, M. S. (2017). Connecting paradigms: A trauma-informed and neurological framework for Motivational Interviewing implementation. A B.I.G. Publishing Project.
- Benoit, D. (2004). Infant-parent attachment: Definition, types, antecedents, measurement and outcome. *Paediatric Child Health*, *9*(8), 541-545. https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/9.8.541
- Bernier, A., Carlson, S. M., & Whipple, N. (2010). From External Regulation to Self-Regulation: Early Parenting Precursors of Young Children's Executive Functioning.

- *Child Development*, *81*(1), 326-339. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01397.x
- Bernier, A., & Dozier, M. (2003). Bridging the attachment transmission gap: The role of maternal mind-mindedness. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 27(4), 355-365.
- Bernier, A., & Dozier, M. (2016). Bridging the attachment transmission gap: The role of maternal mind-mindedness. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 27(4), 355-365. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/01650250244000399
- Bibi, F., Chaudhry, A. G., Awan, E. A., & Tariq, B. (2013). Contribution of parenting style in life domain of children. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *12*(2), 91-95.
- Boland, J., Banks, S., Krabbe, R., Lawrence, S., Murray, T., Henning, T., & Vandenberg, M. (2021). A COVID-19-era rapid review: using Zoom and Skype for qualitative group research. *Public Health Research and Practice*. https://www.phrp.com.au/issues/using-zoom-and-skype-in-qualitative-group-research/
- Bordeleau, S., Bernier, A., & Carrier, J. (2012). Longitudinal associations between the quality of parent—child interactions and children's sleep at preschool age. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 26(2), 254.
- Br, S., Kashyap, R. S., & BN, R. (2020). Perceived stress, parental stress, and parenting during COVID-19 lockdown: A preliminary study. *Journal of Indian Association for Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 16(4), 44-63.
- Brahm, P., Cortázar, A., Paz Fillol, M., Mingo, M. V., Vielma, C., & Aránguiz, M. C. (2016). Maternal sensitivity and mental health: does an early childhood intervention programme have an impact? *Family Practice*, *33*(3), 226-232.
- Branger, M. C., Emmen, R. A., Woudstra, M.-l. J., Alink, L. R., & Mesman, J. (2019). Context matters: Maternal and paternal sensitivity to infants in four settings. *Journal of Family Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000562
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). Contexts of child rearing: Problems and prospects. *The American Psychologist*, 34(10), 844-850. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.34.10.844
- Brown, G. L., Mangelsdorf, S. C., & Neff, C. (2012). Father involvement, paternal sensitivity, and father-child attachment security in the first three years. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 26(3), 421-430. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027836
- Brown, S. M., Doom, J. R., Lechuga-Peña, S., Watamura, S. E., & Koppels, T. (2020). Stress and parenting during the global COVID-19 pandemic. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *110*, 104699. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104699
- Browne, D. T., Wade, M., May, S. S., Jenkins, J. M., & Prime, H. (2021). COVID-19 disruption gets inside the family: A two-month multilevel study of family stress during the pandemic. *Developmental Psychology*, 57(10), 1681.
- Brumbaugh, C. C., & Fraley, R. C. (2006). Transference and attachment: how do attachment patterns get carried forward from one relationship to the next? *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 32(4), 552-560. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167205282740
- Camberis, A.-L., McMahon, C. A., Gibson, F. L., & Boivin, J. (2016). Maternal Age, Psychological Maturity, Parenting Cognitions, and Mother–Infant Interaction. *Infancy*, 21(4), 396-422. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/infa.12116
- Camisasca, E., Procaccia, R., Miragoli, S., Valtolina, G. G., & Di Blasio, P. (2017). Maternal mind-mindedness as a linking mechanism between childbirth-related posttraumatic stress symptoms and parenting stress. *Health Care for Women International*, *38*(6), 593-612. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2017.1296840

- Camoirano, A. (2017). Mentalizing makes parenting work: A review about parental reflective functioning and clinical interventions to improve it. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 14-14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00014
- Cassidy, J., Brett, B. E., Gross, J. T., Stern, J. A., Martin, D. R., Mohr, J. J., & Woodhouse, S. S. (2017). Circle of Security–Parenting: A randomized controlled trial in Head Start. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(2), 651-673. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417000244
- Cassidy, J., Jones, J. D., & Shaver, P. R. (2013). Contributions of attachment theory and research: A framework for future research, translation, and policy. *Development and Psychopathology*, 25(4pt2), 1415-1434. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579413000692
- Cassidy, J., Woodhouse, S. S., Cooper, G., Hoffman, K., Powell, B., & Rodenberg, M. (2005). Examination of the precursors of infant attachment security: Implications for early intervention and intervention research. In *Enhancing Early Attachments: Theory, Research, Intervention, and Policy.* (pp. 34-60). Guilford Press.
- Centifanti, L. C. M., Meins, E., & Fernyhough, C. (2016). Callous-unemotional traits and impulsivity: distinct longitudinal relations with mind-mindedness and understanding of others. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *57*(1), 84-92. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12445
- Chang, V. T., & Overall, N. C. (2022). Biased memories contribute to the links between stress and depressive symptoms. *Emotion*, 22(2), 227.
- Chen, A. (2019). The attachment theory workbook: Powerful tools to promote understanding, increase stability, and build lasting relationships Althea Press.
- Chen, C. Y.-C., Byrne, E., & Vélez, T. (2022). A Preliminary Study of COVID-19-related Stressors, Parenting Stress, and Parental Psychological Well-being Among Parents of School-age Children. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *31*(6), 1558-1569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-022-02321-1
- Cherry, K. (2019, 17 January 2020). What is attachment theory? The importance of early emotional bonds.
- Choate, P. W., & Engstrom, S. (2014). The "Good Enough" Parent: Implications for Child Protection. *Child Care in Practice*, 20(4), 368-382. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575279.2014.915794
- Cohen, J. (2016). A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 20(1), 37-46. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000104
- Colonnesi, C., van Polanen, M., Tavecchio, L. W., & Fukkink, R. G. (2017). Mindmindedness of male and female caregivers in childcare and the relation to sensitivity and attachment: An exploratory study. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 48, 134-146.
- Colonnesi, C., Wissink, I. B., Noom, M. J., Asscher, J. J., Hoeve, M., Stams, G. J. J., Polderman, N., & Kellaert-Knol, M. G. (2013). Basic trust: an attachment-oriented intervention based on mind-mindedness in adoptive families. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 23(2), 179-188.
- Colonnesi, C., Zeegers, M. A. J., Majdandžić, M., van Steensel, F. J. A., & Bögels, S. M. (2019). Fathers' and mothers' early mind-mindedness predicts social competence and behavior problems in childhood. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 47(9), 1421-1435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-019-00537-2
- Costa, A. P., Steffgen, G., & Ferring, D. (2017). Contributors to well-being and stress in parents of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *37*, 61-72. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2017.01.007

- Crawford, J., Cayley, C., Lovibond, P. F., Wilson, P. H., & Hartley, C. (2011). Percentile Norms and Accompanying Interval Estimates from an Australian General Adult Population Sample for Self-Report Mood Scales (BAI, BDI, CRSD, CES-D, DASS, DASS-21, STAI-X, STAI-Y, SRDS, and SRAS). *Australian Psychologist*, 46(1), 3-14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-9544.2010.00003.x
- Cristina, C., Chiara, S., Maria, Z., Antonella, V., & Daniela Acquadro, M. (2020). States of mind with respect to adult attachment and reflective functioning in a sample of men detained for stalking: Evaluation and clinical implications. *SAGE Open*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020962820
- Crucianelli, L., Wheatley, L., Filippetti, M. L., Jenkinson, P. M., Kirk, E., & Fotopoulou, A. (2019). The mindedness of maternal touch: An investigation of maternal mindmindedness and mother-infant touch interactions. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, *35*, 47-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2018.01.010
- Dai, Q., McMahon, C., & Lim, A. K. (2020). Cross-cultural comparison of maternal mind-mindedness among Australian and Chinese mothers. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 44(4), 365-370. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025419874133
- Darvishvand, M., Rahebi, S. M., & Bostani Khalesi, Z. (2018). Factors related to maternal-infant attachment [Review Article]. *19*(12), e80369. https://doi.org/10.5812/semj.80369
- Deepika, P. (2015). The Importance of Non-Verbal Communication. *The ICFAI Journal of Soft Skills*, 9(4), 43.
- Demers, I., Bernier, A., Tarabulsy, G. M., & Provost, M. A. (2010a). Maternal and child characteristics as antecedents of maternal mind-mindedness. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 31(1), 94-112. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20244
- Demers, I., Bernier, A., Tarabulsy, G. M., & Provost, M. A. (2010b). Maternal and child characteristics as antecedents of maternal mind-mindedness. *Infant Mental Health Journal: Official Publication of the World Association for Infant Mental Health*, 31(1), 94-112.
- Demers, I., Bernier, A., Tarabulsy, G. M., & Provost, M. A. (2010c). Mind-mindedness in adult and adolescent mothers: Relations to maternal sensitivity and infant attachment. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *34*(6), 529-537. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025410365802
- Divecha, D. P. D. (2017). What is a secure attachment? And why doesn't "attachment parenting" get you there? Retrieved 29 December 2020, from https://www.developmentalscience.com/blog/2017/3/31/what-is-a-secure-attachmentand-why-doesnt-attachment-parenting-get-you-there
- Dollberg, D. G., Hanetz-Gamliel, K., & Levy, S. (2021). COVID-19, child's behavior problems, and mother's anxiety and mentalization: A mediated moderation model. *Current Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-02476-y
- Dowdney, L., Mrazek, D., Quinton, D., & Rutter, M. (1984). Observation of parent-child interaction with two-to-three year olds. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 25(3), 379-407. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1984.tb00159.x
- Dweck, C. (2016). What having a "growth mindset" actually means. *Harvard Business Review*, 13(2), 2-5.
- Easterbrooks, M. A., Crossman, M. K., Caruso, A., Raskin, M., & Miranda-Julian, C. (2017). Maternal mind-mindedness and toddler behavior problems: The moderating role of maternal trauma and posttraumatic stress. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(4), 1431-1442. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417000360
- Edward, D. (2017, 17 January 2021). *Schaffer and emerson's four stages of attachment*. http://www.psychologyunlocked.com/schaffer-emerson/

- Emery, J., Paquette, D., & Bigras, M. (2008). Factors predicting attachment patterns in infants of adolescent mothers. *Journal of Family Studies*, *14*(1), 65-90. https://doi.org/10.5172/jfs.327.14.1.65
- Epstein, R. (2010). What Makes a Good Parent? *Scientific American Mind*, 21(5), 46-51. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamericanmind1110-46
- Fan, J. (2020). Relationships between Five-Factor Personality Model and Anxiety: The Effect of Conscientiousness on Anxiety. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 8(08), 462.
- Farrow, C., & Blissett, J. (2014). Maternal mind-mindedness during infancy, general parenting sensitivity and observed child feeding behavior: a longitudinal study. *Attachment and Human Development*, *16*(3), 230-241. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2014.898158
- Feinberg, A. E. (2015). *Relationships that appear to contribute to the development of an earned-secure attachment* Smith College]. Northhampton, Massachusetts. https://scholarworks.smith.edu/theses/707
- Feldman, R., & Klein, P. S. (2003). Toddlers' self-regulated compliance to mothers, caregivers, and fathers: Implications for theories of socialization. *Developmental Psychology*, *39*(4), 680-692. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.39.4.680
- Fellow-Smith, L. (2005). Impact of parental anxiety disorder on children. In *Family Matters* (pp. 111-122). Routledge.
- Feniger-Schaal, R., Hart, Y., Lotan, N., Koren-Karie, N., & Noy, L. (2018). The body speaks: Using the mirror game to link attachment and non-verbal behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1560-1560. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01560
- Fishburn, S., Meins, E., Greenhow, S., Jones, C., Hackett, S., Biehal, N., Baldwin, H., Cusworth, L., & Wade, J. (2017). Mind-mindedness in parents of looked-after children. *Developmental Psychology*, *53*(10), 1954-1965. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000304
- Fisher, J. (2017). *Healing the Fragmented Selves of Trauma Survivors: Overcoming Internal Self-Alienation*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315886169
- Fisher, M. A. (2017). Adult Attachment Interview. In *Encyclopedia of Couple and Family Therapy* (pp. 1-3). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-15877-8_680-1
- Fonagy, P., Steele, M., Steele, H., Moran, G. S., & Higgitt, A. C. (1991). The capacity for understanding mental states: The reflective self in parent and child and its significance for security of attachment. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *12*(3), 201-218. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0355(199123)12:3
- Fonagy, P., & Target, M. (1997). Attachment and reflective function: Their role in self-organization. *Development and Psychopathology*, *9*(4), 679-700. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579497001399
- Fonagy, P., Target, M., Steele, H., & Steele, M. (1998). Reflective-functioning manual version 5 for application to adult attachment interviews.
- Fujita, N., & Hughes, C. (2021). Mind-mindedness and self-other distinction: Contrasts between Japanese and British mothers' speech samples. *Social Development*, *30*(1), 57-72. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12454
- Gardner, F. (2000). Methodological issues in the direct observation of parent—child interaction: Do observational findings reflect the natural behavior of participants? *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *3*(3), 185-198. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1009503409699
- George, D., & Mallery, P. (2016). *IBM SPSS statistics 23 step by step: A simple guide and reference*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315545899

- Gervai, J. (2009). Environmental and genetic influences on early attachment. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *3*(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-3-25
- Ginsburg, G. S., Grover, R. L., Cord, J. J., & Ialongo, N. (2006). Observational measures of parenting in anxious and nonanxious mothers: Does type of task matter? *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, *35*(2), 323-328. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp3502_16
- Goodman, S. H., & Gotlib, I. H. (1999). Risk for psychopathology in the children of depressed mothers: a developmental model for understanding mechanisms of transmission. *Psychological Review*, *106*(3), 458-490. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.106.3.458
- Goudarzi, Z., Seyed Mousavi, P. S., Vahidi, E., Rafie, M., & Ghanbari, S. (2022). Psychometric properties of the parental reflective functioning questionnaire in Iranian mothers. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *27*(3), 882-894. https://doi.org/10.1177/13591045211070181
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26(1), 41-54. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:joba.0000007455.08539.94
- Gray, L. M., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G. R., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(5), 1292-1301.
- Guina, J. (2016). The talking cure of avoidant personality disorder: Remission through earned-secure attachment. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 70(3), 233-250. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2016.70.3.233
- Hemenover, S. H. (2001). Self-reported processing bias and naturally occurring mood: Mediators between personality and stress appraisals. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 27(4), 387-394.
- Henry, J. D., & Crawford, J. R. (2005). The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): Construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *44*(2), 227-239. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466505X29657
- Herrera, E., Reissland, N., & Shepherd, J. (2004). Maternal touch and maternal child-directed speech: effects of depressed mood in the postnatal period. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 81(1), 29-39. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2003.07.001
- Hill, S., & McMahon, C. (2016). Maternal mind-mindedness: Stability across relationships and associations with attachment style and psychological mindedness. *Infant and Child Development*, 25(5), 391-405. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.1947
- Hobby, L., Bird, A. L., Townsend, M. L., & Barnes, J. (2022). Mind-mindedness and preschool children's behavioral difficulties: The moderating role of maternal parenting distress. *Development and Psychopathology*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579422000311
- Hoffman, K., Cooper, G., & Powell, B. (2017). *Raising a secure child* Guilford Publications.
 Hughes, C., Devine, R. T., & Wang, Z. (2018). Does Parental Mind-Mindedness Account for Cross-Cultural Differences in Preschoolers' Theory of Mind? *Child Development*, 89(4), 1296-1310. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12746
- Hughes, D., & Golding, K. (2012). *Creating loving attachments* Jessica Kingsley Publishers. Hughes, D. A., & Baylin, J. (2012). *Brain-based parenting: The neuroscience of caregiving for healthy attachment.* WW Norton & Company.

- Illingworth, G., MacLean, M., & Wiggs, L. (2016). Maternal mind-mindedness: stability over time and consistency across relationships. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *13*(4), 488-503. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2015.1115342
- Jones, J. D., & Cassidy, J. (2014). Parental attachment style: examination of links with parent secure base provision and adolescent secure base use. *Attachment and Human Development*, 16(5), 437-461. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2014.921718
- Judd, F., Newman, L. K., & Komiti, A. A. (2018). Time for a new zeitgeist in perinatal mental health. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *52*(2), 112-116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867417741553
- Kamis, C. (2021). The long-term impact of parental mental health on children's distress trajectories in adulthood. *Society and Mental Health*, *11*(1), 54-68. https://doi.org/10.1177/2156869320912520
- Karr-Morse, R., & Wiley, M., S. (2012). Scared sick: The role of childhood trauma in adult disease. Basic Books.
- Kerns, K. A., & Brumariu, L. E. (2014). Is insecure parent-child attachment a risk factor for the development of anxiety in childhood or adolescence? *Child Development Perspective*, 8(1), 12-17. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12054
- Kirk, E., & Sharma, S. (2017). Mind-mindedness in mothers of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 43-44, 18-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2017.08.005
- Kotchick, B. A., & Forehand, R. (2002). *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 11(3), 255-269. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1016863921662
- Kourti, A., Stavridou, A., Panagouli, E., Psaltopoulou, T., Spiliopoulou, C., Tsolia, M., Sergentanis, T. N., & Tsitsika, A. (2021). Domestic violence during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse*, 15248380211038690.
- Krink, S., Muehlhan, C., Luyten, P., Romer, G., & Ramsauer, B. (2018). Parental reflective functioning affects sensitivity to distress in mothers with postpartum depression. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(5), 1671-1681. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-1000-5
- Kristen, S., Rossmann, F., & Sodian, B. (2014). Theory of own mind and autobiographical memory in adults with ASD. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(7), 827-837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2014.03.009
- Kutner, M. H., Nachtsheim, C., Neter, J., & Li, W. (2004). *Applied linear regression models* (5th Ed. ed.). Irwin.
- Lahousen, T., Unterrainer, H. F., & Kapfhammer, H. P. (2019). Psychobiology of attachment and trauma Some general remarks from a clinical perspective. *Frontiers Psychiatry*, 10, 914. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00914
- Laible, D. (2011). Does it matter if preschool children and mothers discuss positive vs. negative events during reminiscing? Links with mother-reported attachment, family emotional climate, and socioemotional development. *Social Development*, 20(2), 394-411.
- Laranjo, J., Bernier, A., & Meins, E. (2008). Associations between maternal mindmindedness and infant attachment security: Investigating the mediating role of maternal sensitivity. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 31(4), 688-695. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2008.04.008
- Laranjo, J., Bernier, A., Meins, E., & Carlson, S. M. (2014). The roles of maternal mindmindedness and infant security of attachment in predicting preschoolers' understanding of visual perspective taking and false belief. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 125, 48-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2014.02.005

- Larkin, F., Oostenbroek, J., Lee, Y., Hayward, E., & Meins, E. (2019). Proof of concept of a smartphone app to support delivery of an intervention to facilitate mothers' mindmindedness. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(8), e0220948.
- Lee, D., & James, S. (2012). The compassionate mind approach to recovering from trauma: Using compassion focused therapy Robinson.
- Leerkes, E. M., Nayena Blankson, A., & O'Brien, M. (2009). Differential effects of maternal sensitivity to infant distress and nondistress on social-emotional functioning. *Child Development*, 80(3), 762-775. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01296.x
- Leijdesdorff, S., van Doesum, K., Popma, A., Klaassen, R., & van Amelsvoort, T. (2017). Prevalence of psychopathology in children of parents with mental illness and/or addiction: an up to date narrative review. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *30*(4), 312-317. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.00000000000000341
- Lisitsa, E., Bolden, C. R., Johnson, B. D., & Mezulis, A. H. (2021). Impact of stress and parenting on respiratory sinus arrythmia trajectories in early adolescence. Developmental psychobiology, 63(6), e22165-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.22165
- Lok, S. M., & McMahon, C. A. (2006). Mothers' thoughts about their children: Links between mind-mindedness and emotional availability. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 24(3), 477-488. https://doi.org/10.1348/026151005X49854
- Lundy, B. L., & Fyfe, G. (2016). Preschoolers' mind-related comments during collaborative problem-solving: Parental contributions and developmental outcomes. *Social Development*, 25(4), 722-741.
- Luyten, P., Mayes, L. C., Nijssens, L., & Fonagy, P. (2017). The parental reflective functioning questionnaire: Development and preliminary validation. *PLOS ONE*, 12(5), e0176218. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176218
- Luyten, P., Nijssens, L., Fonagy, P., & Mayes, L. C. (2017). Parental reflective functioning: Theory, research, and clinical applications. *The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child*, 70(1), 174-199. https://doi.org/10.1080/00797308.2016.1277901
- Lyons-Ruth, K., Bruschweiler-Stern, N., Harrison, A. M., Morgan, A. C., Nahum, J. P., Sander, L., Stern, D. N., & Tronick, E. Z. (1998). Implicit relational knowing: Its role in development and psychoanalytic treatment. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *19*(3), 282-289. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0355(199823)19:3<282::AID-IMHJ3>3.0.CO;2-O
- Mahoney, A. E., Elders, A., Li, I., David, C., Haskelberg, H., Guiney, H., & Millard, M. (2021). A tale of two countries: Increased uptake of digital mental health services during the COVID-19 pandemic in Australia and New Zealand. *Internet Interventions*, 25, 100439.
- Main, M. (2000). The organized categories of infant, child, and adult attachment: Flexible vs. inflexible attention under attachment-related stress. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 48(4), 1055-1096; discussion 1175-1087. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/00030651000480041801
- Main, M., & Goldwyn, R. (1984). Predicting rejection of her infant from mother's representation of her own experience: Implications for the abused-abusing intergenerational cycle. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 8(2), 203-217. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-2134(84)90009-7
- Main, M., Kaplan, N., & Cassidy, J. (1985). Security in infancy, childhood, and adulthood: A move to the level of representation. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 50(1/2), 66-104. https://doi.org/10.2307/3333827
- Malmberg, L. E., Lewis, S., West, A., Murray, E., Sylva, K., & Stein, A. (2016). The influence of mothers' and fathers' sensitivity in the first year of life on children's

- cognitive outcomes at 18 and 36 months. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 42(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12294
- Malphurs, J. E., Field, T. M., Larraine, C., Pickens, J., Pelaez-Nogueras, M., Yando, R., & Bendell, D. (1996). Altering withdrawn and intrusive interaction behaviors of depressed mothers. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *17*(2), 152-160. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0355(199622)17:2<152::AID-IMHJ5>3.0.CO;2-S
- Marvin, R., Cooper, G., Hoffman, K., & Powell, B. (2002). The Circle of Security project: Attachment-based intervention with caregiver-pre-school child dyads. *Attachment and Human Development*, *4*(1), 107-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616730252982491
- Maybery, D. J., Reupert, A. E., Patrick, K., Goodyear, M., & Crase, L. (2009). Prevalence of parental mental illness in Australian families. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, *33*(1), 22-26. https://doi.org/10.1192/pb.bp.107.018861
- McAlister, A., & Peterson, C. (2007). A longitudinal study of child siblings and theory of mind development. *Cognitive Development*, 22(2), 258-270.
- McElwain, N. L., & Volling, B. L. (1999). Depressed mood and marital conflict: Relations to maternal and paternal intrusiveness with one-year-old infants. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 20(1), 63-83. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-3973(99)80004-5
- McHugh, M. L. (2012). Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. *Biochemia Medica*, 22(3), 276-282. https://www.biochemia-medica.com/assets/images/upload/xml_tif/McHugh_ML_Interrater_reliability.pdf
- McLeod, S. A. (2018). Mary Ainsworth. Retrieved 09 January 2021, from https://www.simplypsychology.org/mary-ainsworth.html
- McMahon, C. (2012). Mind-mindedness, parenting stress, and emotional availability in mothers of preschoolers. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 27(2), 245-252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.08.002
- McMahon, C., Camberis, A.-L., Berry, S., & Gibson, F. (2016). Maternal mind-mindedness: Relations with maternal-fetal attachment and stability in the first two years of life: Findings from an australian prospective study: Maternal-fetal attachment and mind-mindedness. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *37*(1), 17-28. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21548
- McMahon, C., & Newey, B. (2018). Non-attuned mind-mindedness, infant negative affect, and emotional availability: Assessing mind-mindedness during the still-face paradigm. *Infancy*, 23(6), 873-892. https://doi.org/10.1111/infa.12245
- McMahon, C. A., & Bernier, A. (2017). Twenty years of research on parental mindmindedness: Empirical findings, theoretical and methodological challenges, and new directions. *Developmental Review*, 46, 54-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2017.07.001
- McMahon, C. A., & Meins, E. (2012). Mind-mindedness, parenting stress, and emotional availability in mothers of preschoolers. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 27(2), 245-252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.08.002
- Meins, E. (1998). The effects of security of attachment and material attribution of meaning on children's linguistic acquisitional style. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 21(2), 237-252. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(98)90004-2
- Meins, E. (2013a). Security of attachment and the social development of cognition. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203775912
- Meins, E. (2013b). Sensitive attunement to infants' internal states: operationalizing the construct of mind-mindedness. *Attachment and Human Development*, *15*(5-6), 524-544. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2013.830388

- Meins, E., Bureau, J. F., & Fernyhough, C. (2018). Mother-child attachment from infancy to the preschool years: Predicting security and stability. *Child Development*, 89(3), 1022-1038. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12778
- Meins, E., Centifanti, L. C. M., Fernyhough, C., & Fishburn, S. (2013). Maternal mindmindedness and children's behavioral difficulties: Mitigating the impact of low socioeconomic status. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 41(4), 543-553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-012-9699-3
- Meins, E., & Fernyhough, C. (1999). Linguistic acquisitional style and mentalising development: The role of maternal mind-mindedness. *Cognitive Development*, *14*(3), 363-380. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2014(99)00010-6
- Meins, E., & Fernyhough, C. (2015). *Mind-mindedness coding manual, Version 2.2.* University of York.
- Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., Arnott, B., Turner, M., & Leekam, S. R. (2011). Mother-versus infant-centered Correlates of maternal mind-mindedness in the first year of life. *Infancy*, *16*(2), 137-165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7078.2010.00039.x
- Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., Fradley, E., & Tuckey, M. (2001). Rethinking maternal sensitivity: Mothers' comments on infants' mental processes predict security of attachment at 12 months. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 42(5), 637-648. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00759
- Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., Johnson, F., & Lidstone, J. (2006). Mind-mindedness in children: Individual differences in internal-state talk in middle childhood. *British Journal of Developmental psychology*, 24(1), 181-196. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1348/026151005X80174
- Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., Wainwright, R., Clark-Carter, D., Das Gupta, M., Fradley, E., & Tuckey, M. (2003). Pathways to Understanding Mind: Construct Validity and Predictive Validity of Maternal Mind-Mindedness. *Child Development*, 74(4), 1194-1211. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00601
- Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., Wainwright, R., Das Gupta, M., Fradley, E., & Tuckey, M. (2002). Maternal mind–mindedness and attachment security as predictors of theory of mind understanding. *Child Development*, 73(6), 1715-1726. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00501
- Meynen, M., Colonnesi, C., Abrahamse, M. E., Hein, I., Stams, G.-J. J., & Lindauer, R. J. (2022). A Cohort Study on the Effect of Parental Mind-Mindedness in Parent—Child Interaction Therapy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(8), 4533.
- Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., Gillath, O., & Nitzberg, R. A. (2005). Attachment, caregiving, and altruism: boosting attachment security increases compassion and helping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(5), 817-839. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.5.817
- Morrongiello, B. A., & Dawber, T. (1999). Parental Influences on toddlers' injury-risk behaviors: Are sons and daughters socialized differently? *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 20(2), 227-251. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-3973(99)00015-5
- Naughton, M. F. A., Maybery, D. J., & Goodyear, M. (2018). Prevalence of mental illness within families in a regional child-focussed mental health service. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 27(2), 901-910. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12386
- Neha, T. (2018). Keeping Cultural in Cultural Evolutionary Psychology: Culture shapes Indigenous psychologies in specific ecologies. Commentary.
- Newland, L. A., Freeman, H. S., & Coyl, D. D. (2014). *Emerging topics on father attachment: Considerations in theory, context and development.* . Routledge.

- Nyarko, K. (2011). The influence of authoritative parenting style on adolescents' academic achievement *American Journal of Social and Management Sciences*, 2(3), 278-282. https://doi.org/10.5251/ajsms.2011.2.3.278.282
- Ornaghi, V., Agliati, A., Pepe, A., & Gabola, P. (2020). Patterns of association between early childhood teachers' emotion socialization styles, emotion beliefs and mindmindedness. *Early Education and Development*, *31*(1), 47-65. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2019.1627805
- Pally, R. (2001). A Primary Role for Nonverbal Communication in Psychoanalysis. *Psychoanalytic Inquiry*, 21(1), 71-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/07351692109348924
- Pawlby, S., Fernyhough, C., Meins, E., Pariante, C. M., Seneviratne, G., & Bentall, R. P. (2010). Mind-mindedness and maternal responsiveness in infant—mother interactions in mothers with severe mental illness. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(11), 1861-1869. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291709992340
- Pazzagli, C., Delvecchio, E., Raspa, V., Mazzeschi, C., & Luyten, P. (2018). The Parental Reflective Functioning Questionnaire in mothers and fathers of school-aged children. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(1), 80-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0856-8
- Pearson, J. L., Cohn, D. A., Cowan, P. A., & Cowan, C. P. (1994). Earned- and continuous-security in adult attachment: Relation to depressive symptomatology and parenting style. *Development and Psychopathology*, *6*(2), 359-373. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579400004636
- Pequet, A., & Warnell, K. R. (2021). Thinking of you: Relations between mind-mindedness, theory of mind, and social anxiety traits in middle childhood and adulthood. *Social Development*, 30(1), 95-112.
- Piquero, A. R., Jennings, W. G., Jemison, E., Kaukinen, C., & Knaul, F. M. (2021). Domestic violence during the COVID-19 pandemic Evidence from a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 74, 101806. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2021.101806
- Planalp, E. M., O'Neill, M., & Braungart-Rieker, J. M. (2019). Parent mind-mindedness, sensitivity, and infant affect: Implications for attachment with mothers and fathers. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *57*, 101330-101330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2019.101330
- Platt, B., Sfärlea, A., Buhl, C., Loechner, J., Neumüller, J., Asperud Thomsen, L., Starman-Wöhrle, K., Salemink, E., & Schulte-Körne, G. (2022). An eye-tracking study of attention biases in children at high familial risk for depression and their parents with depression. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, *53*(1), 89-108.
- Puig, J., Englund, M. M., Simpson, J. A., & Collins, W. A. (2013). Predicting adult physical illness from infant attachment: A prospective longitudinal study. *Health Psychology*, 32(4), 409-417. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028889
- Rees, C. (2007). Childhood attachment. *British Journal of General Practice*, *57*(544), 920-922. https://doi.org/10.3399/096016407782317955
- Reupert, A., & Maybery, D. (2016). What do we know about families where parents have a mental illness? A systematic review. *Child and Youth Services*, *37*(2), 98-111. https://doi.org/10.1080/0145935x.2016.1104037
- Reupert, A. E., D, J. M., & Kowalenko, N. M. (2013). Children whose parents have a mental illness: prevalence, need and treatment. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 199(3 Suppl), S7-9. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja11.11200
- Risi, A., Pickard, J. A., & Bird, A. L. (2021). The implications of parent mental health and wellbeing for parent-child attachment: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(12), e0260891. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0260891

- Riva Crugnola, C., Ierardi, E., & Canevini, M. P. (2018). Reflective functioning, maternal attachment, mind-mindedness, and emotional availability in adolescent and adult mothers at infant 3 months. *Attachment and Human Development*, 20(1), 84-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2017.1379546
- Roisman, G. L., Padron, E., Sroufe, L. A., & Egeland, B. (2002). Earned-secure attachment status in retrospect and prospect. *Child Development*, *73*(4), 1204-1219. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00467
- Rosenblum, K. L., McDonough, S. C., Sameroff, A. J., & Muzik, M. (2008). Reflection in thought and action: Maternal parenting reflectivity predicts mind-minded comments and interactive behavior. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 29(4), 362-376. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20184
- Ruffman, T., Perner, J., Naito, M., Parkin, L., & Clements, W. A. (1998). Older (but Not Younger) Siblings Facilitate False Belief Understanding. *Developmental Psychology*, 34(1), 161-174. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.34.1.161
- Sadock, B. J., Sadock, V. A., & Ruiz, P. (2015). *Kaplan and Sadock's synopsis of psychiatry: Behavioral sciences/clinical psychiatry* (Eleventh edition ed.). LWW Wolters Kluwer.
- Schacht, R., Hammond, L., Marks, M., Wood, B., & Conroy, S. (2013). The relation between mind-mindedness in mothers with borderline personality disorder and mental state understanding in their children. *Infant and Child Development*, 22(1), 68-84. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.1766
- Schacht, R., Meins, E., Fernyhough, C., Centifanti, L. C. M., Bureau, J.-F., & Pawlby, S. (2017). Proof of concept of a mind–mindedness intervention for mothers hospitalized for severe mental illness. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(2), 555-564. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417000177
- Schaffer, H. R., & Emerson, P. E. (1964). Patterns of response to physical contact in early human development. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *5*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1964.tb02126.x
- Schore, A., N. (2001). Effects of a secure attachment relationship on right brain development, affect regulation, and infant mental health. *Infant Mental Health Journal* 22(1-2), 7-66. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0355(200101/04)22:13.0.CO;2-N
- Segal, S. C., & Moulson, M. C. (2021). Parent-Infant Interaction Tasks Adapted for Remote Testing: Strengths, Challenges, and Recommendations [Brief Research Report]. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.733275
- Sfärlea, A., Löchner, J., Neumüller, J., Asperud Thomsen, L., Starman, K., Salemink, E., Schulte-Körne, G., & Platt, B. (2019). Passing on the half-empty glass: A transgenerational study of interpretation biases in children at risk for depression and their parents with depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 128(2), 151.
- Shah, P. E., Fonagy, P., & Strathearn, L. (2010). Is attachment transmitted across generations? The plot thickens. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 15(3), 329-345. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104510365449
- Shai, D., & Meins, E. (2018). Parental Embodied Mentalizing and its Relation to Mind-Mindedness, Sensitivity, and Attachment Security. *Infancy*, 23(6), 857-872. https://doi.org/10.1111/infa.12244
- Sharp, C., & Fonagy, P. (2008). The parent's capacity to treat the child as a psychological agent: Constructs, measures and implications for developmental psychopathology. *Social Development*, *17*(3), 737-754. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00457.x
- Shin, E., Smith, C. L., & Howell, B. R. (2021). Advances in Behavioral Remote Data Collection in the Home Setting: Assessing the Mother-Infant Relationship and

- Infant's Adaptive Behavior via Virtual Visits [Methods]. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.703822
- Siegel, D. J. (2010). Mindsight (Kindle Edition. ed.). Scribe Publications Pty Ltd.
- Siegel, D. J. (2012). The Developing Mind (Second Edition ed.). Guilford Publications.
- Siegel, D. J., & Hartzell, M. (2014). Parenting from the inside out: How a deeper self-understanding can help you raise children who thrive. Scribe Publications Pty Ltd.
- Sleed, M., Slade, A., & Fonagy, P. (2020). Reflective functioning on the parent development interview: Validity and reliability in relation to socio-demographic factors. *Attachment and Human Development*, 22(3), 310-331. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2018.1555603
- Spinelli, M., Lionetti, F., Pastore, M., & Fasolo, M. (2020). Parents' stress and children's psychological problems in families facing the COVID-19 outbreak in Italy. *Frontiers in psychology*, 11, 1713.
- Spitoni, G. F., Zingaretti, P., Giovanardi, G., Antonucci, G., Galati, G., Lingiardi, V., Cruciani, G., Titone, G., & Boccia, M. (2020). Disorganized Attachment pattern affects the perception of Affective Touch. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-66606-5
- Sroufe, L. A. (2021). Then and now: the legacy and future of attachment research. *Attachment and Human Development*, 23(4), 396-403. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2021.1918450
- Sroufe, L. A., & Waters, E. (2017). Attachment as an organizational construct. *Interpersonal Development*, 109-124.
- Stambaugh, L. F., Forman-Hoffman, V., Williams, J., Pemberton, M. R., Ringeisen, H., Hedden, S. L., & Bose, J. (2017). Prevalence of serious mental illness among parents in the United States: results from the National Survey of Drug Use and Health, 2008–2014. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 27(3), 222-224. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2016.12.005
- Steenhoff, T., Tharner, A., & Vaever, M. S. (2019). Mothers' and fathers' observed interaction with preschoolers: Similarities and differences in parenting behavior in a well-resourced sample. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(8), e0221661. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0221661
- Supkoff, L. M., Puig, J., & Sroufe, L. A. (2012). Situating Resilience in Developmental Context. In (pp. 127-142). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0586-3 12
- Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Shannon, J. D., Cabrera, N. J., & Lamb, M. E. (2004). Fathers and Mothers at Play With Their 2- and 3-Year-Olds: Contributions to Language and Cognitive Development. *Child Development*, *75*(6), 1806-1820. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00818.x
- Tarabulsy, G. M., Bernier, A., Provost, M. A., Maranda, J., Larose, S., Moss, E., Larose, M., & Tessier, R. (2005). Another look inside the gap: Ecological contributions to the transmission of attachment in a sample of adolescent mother-infant dyads. Developmental Psychology, 41(1), 212-224. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.41.1.212
- Tobias, M., Gerritsen, S., Kokaua, J., & Templeton, R. (2009). Psychiatric illness among a nationally representative sample of sole and partnered parents in New Zealand. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *43*(2), 136-144. https://doi.org/10.1080/00048670802607196
- van Ijzendoorn, M. H., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (1997). Intergenerational transmission of attachment: A move to the contextual level. *Attachment and Psychopathology*, 135-170.

- van Ijzendoorn, M. H., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2009). The distribution of adult attachment representations in clinical groups: A meta-analytic search for patterns of attachment in 105 AAI studies. *Attachment and Human Development*, 11(3), 223-263. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616730902814762
- Verhage, M. L., Schuengel, C., Madigan, S., Fearon, R. M. P., Oosterman, M., Cassibba, R., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., & van, I. M. H. (2016). Narrowing the transmission gap: A synthesis of three decades of research on intergenerational transmission of attachment. *Psychology Bulletin*, *142*(4), 337-366. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000038
- Walker, T. M., Wheatcroft, R., & Camic, P. M. (2012). Mind-mindedness in parents of preschoolers: A comparison between clinical and community samples. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *17*(3), 318-335. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104511409142
- Wallrath, M. K., Rubel, J., Ohls, I., Demiralay, C., & Hechler, T. (2020). Bottom-up or top-down?: The role of child and parent chronic pain and anxiety in the context of parental catastrophizing and solicitousness. *European Journal of Pain*, 24(3), 604-616.
- Waters, A. M., Forrest, K., Peters, R.-M., Bradley, B. P., & Mogg, K. (2015). Attention bias to emotional information in children as a function of maternal emotional disorders and maternal attention biases. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 46, 158-163.
- Weinfield, N. S., Sroufe, L. A., & Egeland, B. (2000). Attachment from infancy to early adulthood in a high-risk sample: continuity, discontinuity, and their correlates. *Child Development*, 71(3), 695-702. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00178
- Widiger, T. A., & Costa Jr, P. T. (2002). Five-factor model personality disorder research.
- Wolicki, S. B., Bitsko, R. H., Cree, R. A., Danielson, M. L., Ko, J. Y., Warner, L., & Robinson, L. R. (2021). Mental Health of Parents and Primary Caregivers by Sex and Associated Child Health Indicators. *Adversity and Resilience Science*, 2(2), 125-139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42844-021-00037-7
- Wu, Q., & Xu, Y. (2020). Parenting stress and risk of child maltreatment during the COVID-19 pandemic: A family stress theory-informed perspective. *Developmental Child Welfare*, 2(3), 180-196.
- Yatziv, T., Kessler, Y., & Atzaba-Poria, N. (2018). What's going on in my baby's mind? Mothers' executive functions contribute to individual differences in maternal mentalization during mother-infant interactions. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(11), e0207869. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0207869
- Zeegers, M. A. J., Colonnesi, C., Stams, G.-J. J. M., & Meins, E. (2017). Mind Matters: A meta-analysis on parental mentalization and sensitivity as predictors of infant-parent attachment. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(12), 1245-1272. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000114
- Zeegers, M. A. J., Potharst, E. S., Veringa-Skiba, I. K., Aktar, E., Goris, M., Bögels, S. M., & Colonnesi, C. (2019). Evaluating Mindful with your baby/toddler: Observational changes in maternal sensitivity, acceptance, mind-mindedness, and dyadic synchrony. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 753-753. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00753
- Zelkowitz, P., Papageorgiou, A., Bardin, C., & Wang, T. (2009). Persistent maternal anxiety affects the interaction between mothers and their very low birthweight children at 24 months. *Early Human Development*, 85(1), 51-58.

Appendix

Appendix A – Ethics approval

The University of Waikato Private Bag 3105 Gate 1, Knighton Road Hamilton, New Zealand Human Research Ethics Committee Roger Moltzen Telephone: +64021658119 Email:humanethics@walkato.ac.nz



31 March 2021

Amy Bird School of Psychology By email: <u>abird@waikato.ac.nz</u>

Kia ora Amy

HREC(Health)2020#82: Parental wellbeing and parent-infant attachment

Thank you for your detailed response to the Committee's feedback and to its request for further information. Thank you too for meeting with me to assist me to better understand the project and the various roles and responsibilities within it. I am now able to provide ethical approval for this research but would offer the following in response to your letter of 26 March:

- 1. Your proposal brought to the fore the extent to which students at the masters level need to apply for and obtain separate ethical approval when their research is embedded in a larger project. It caused me to follow this up and while recent practice seems to be that this is required, HREC does not appear to have a firm policy on this. This means we need to consider this as a Committee but it would be unreasonable to have delayed the commencement of your study until this occurred. As noted in my email communication of 17 March, this approval is predicated on the understanding that the thesis/dissertation will give a clear explanation of the ethics process relevant to that aspect of the study.
- I accept your explanation for why a Maori interpreter has not been included at this point but if this role is filled, it would be appropriate to inform the Committee of the person's name and confirmation that they have signed a confidentiality agreement.
- Thank you for the additional information around Cloudstor. I am satisfied that it is an appropriate option for the storage of data.

Please contact the committee by email (https://www.humanethics@waikato.ac.nz) if you wish to make changes to your project as it unfolds, quoting your application number with your future correspondence. Any minor changes or additions to the approved research activities can be handled outside the monthly application cycle.

We wish you all the best with your research.

Kind regards

*MM*11—~

Roger

Emeritus Professor Roger Moltzen MNZM Chairperson

University of Waikato Human Research Ethics Committee

Appendix B - Research advertisement





Parental Wellbeing and Attachment Study

Calling parents of infants!

We are currently recruiting **parents and 6-18 month old infants**. We would love to hear from YOU all about what parenting an infant is like at the moment.

This research will help us understand how parent-infant interactions are related to parents' own experiences growing up, and their mental health and wellbeing.

We would love to hear from Mums and/or Dads.

If you are interested in participating in this study, or would like any more information, please contact:

New Zealand parents:

Kerry ks457@students.waikato.ac.nz

Or Amy amy.bird@waikato.ac.nz

Ethics approval: HREC (Health) 2020#82

Appendix C – Participant information sheet

Te Kura Whatu Cho Mauri-School of Psychology 07 837 9288
Te Wänanga o NgäKete-Division of Arts, Law, Www.waikato.ac.nz
Psychology and Social Sciences
The University of Wialkato
Private Bag 3105
Hamilton, New Zealand, 3240



PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET PARENTAL WELLBEING AND ATTACHMENT STUDY

PURPOSE OF THE RESEARCH

This is an invitation to participate in the Parental Wellbeing and Attachment study conducted by researchers at the University of Waikato (Aotearoa, New Zealand) and the University of Wollongong (Australia). Research questions include:

- 1. How does parental wellbeing relate to the early parent-child relationship?
- 2. How do parents' experiences of being parented influence relationships with their own children?
- 3. How can parent-children's interactions during play (i.e., verbal and non-verbal) promote healthy social, behavioural and cognitive development?

WHAT WILL YOU BE ASKED TO DO?

The study involves an online survey (approximately 30 minutes) and two online video interviews (via Zoom). You can complete the online survey at a time that is convenient to you, and we will also schedule the online interview at a time that is convenient for you.

The online interview has two components: one is an interview with you (without your child present; about 60 minutes), and the other is a play session between you and your child (about 20 minutes). Depending on what works best for you and your family, you may choose to schedule your interview and the play session one after the other, or on two different days. Your involvement in all aspects of the study is voluntary and you may withdraw your participation at any time.

While this research is designed as one project, we will ask you for consent to each of the separate components, and you could agree to participate in the online survey and then choose not to take part in the online interviews. You are also free to withdraw your consent at any time. The specific things you are being asked to consider as part of this aspect of the study are:

 Participate in an online survey to examine experiences of parenting and psychological wellbeing (approximately 30 minutes)

These questionnaires have been selected to measure different aspects of health and well-being. They are derived from well-developed, established research studies around the world. The survey includes questions about sensitive areas including parenting skills and psychological health. Your responses to these questions are hugely helpful, and provide important insight into your experiences as a parent of your child.

Participate in an interview with a trained researcher about your own experiences of being parented while growing up (about 60 minutes).

This semi-structured interview will take place online, over Zoom, an online video calling system. With your permission, this interview will be recorded. We understand that many adults may have had challenging experiences during their own childhood. We encourage you to only share information that you feel comfortable with. If you would prefer to not answer some questions that is absolutely fine. Questions ask about your relationships with each of your parents and other close persons growing up, as well as your relationship with your child now and into the future.

3. Participate in a video recorded free play session with your child (20 minutes)

This will occur in your own home, but we would like to record this interaction live via a secure Zoom link. We will ask you to play with your child for about 10 minutes using any age-appropriate toys you have in the house. This might include stacking toys, shape sorters, a musical toy, or pots and pans! You and your child do not have to play with all the toys, and either you or your child can stop the session at any time. The researcher will not interrupt you during this play session.

Following this task, we will ask you to choose a task (from a list) that your child cannot yet do (e.g., complete a three piece puzzle; roll a ball back and forward). We will ask you to 'teach' your child how to engage in this activity. This will take approximately 10 minutes.

This session will be video recorded and you are able to ask to stop the session at any point. Video recording is necessary in this aspect of the study to ensure your child's responses are noted (e.g., smiling, attention, play). Every parent will have their own way of playing and interacting with their child, there is no 'right' or 'wrong' way, so we would ask you to just play and interact as you usually would.

POSSIBLE RISKS AND INCONVENIENCES

Your participation will take up to 30 minutes for the online survey, and around 80 minutes for the online recorded Zoom sessions. You may find some of the interview questions during the Zoom session about your own experiences growing up distressing. Please let us know if that is the case. Not all questions need to be answered. If you do not feel comfortable answering any questions, you may decline to do so. If you become distressed at any stage during or after completing the interview or the survey, please let us know. We would also encourage you to speak to your health care professional or contact one of the counselling services listed below under "Further Information".

You can take your time in considering whether you would like to participate in this aspect of the study and can consult with other members of your family and ask any questions of the researchers before making this decision.

PERMISSION TO CONTACT YOU TO PARTICIPATE IN THE FUTURE

If you choose to participate in this project you can also choose to be contacted about further research conducted by the University of Waikato. This is completely optional. Even if you say yes to this further contact now, you would be free to say no if we did contact you in the future.

STORAGE AND CONFIDENTIALITY OF YOUR INFORMATION

All information collected will be treated completely confidentially and will be used for health research only for the duration of the study. To further ensure security and confidentiality, all information will be stored, analysed and reported with your identifying details removed. You will be identified by a unique participant code rather than your actual name. Nothing that identifies individual participants will be published. You and your child will be visible in the video recordings, but these will be stored and accessed securely only by members of the Parental Wellbeing and Attachment study research team.

All data and video recordings will be kept in appropriate and secure facilities at the University of Waikato for a minimum of five years following completion of the study. If further study follow-ups occur, your data will be stored until 5 years after completion of the final phase of the study. The Principal Investigator of this study will act as a guardian of the data to ensure all privacy and confidentiality legislation is followed. Only researchers involved in this study, approved by a Human Research Ethics Committee, will have access to the data.

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study and that can be identified with you will remain confidential. In the rare instance that there is a potentially serious concern for your health or safety or the health and safety of someone else, we might need to contact a health provider or other authority. We would always try and talk to you first about this, but in an emergency, might need to contact them directly.

ACCESS TO YOUR INFORMATION AND RESULTS

No individual results will be provided to you. However, the results from you and other participants may provide valuable information on the health of the community and advance scientific discoveries. We will produce a brief summary of findings, which we will send to you.

PUBLICATION OF RESULTS

Findings from the study will be published in student theses, research reports, and journal articles. Confidentiality is assured and you and your family will not be identified in any reports or presentations connected with the study. Reports outlining the group findings will be made available to participants. These will be based on data reflecting the overall study population and will not contain information about individuals.

WITHDRAWAL FROM THE STUDY

Your involvement in the study is voluntary and you may withdraw your participation at any time up until one month after the end of your participation, or decline to answer any questions. If you withdraw from this study, your data will be destroyed. Choosing not to participate in the study will not affect your relationship with the University of Waikato, or your current or future health provision.

FUNDING AND BENEFITS OF THE STUDY

The research is aimed at improving future health and well-being of families and is not designed to benefit the individual in the short-term. However, the study may provide important information concerning wellbeing, and how parents can have positive interactions with their toddlers. Participants and the wider community may benefit directly from improved health guidelines and policy resulting from scientific discoveries made by this study.

ETHICS REVIEW AND COMPLAINTS

This research project has been approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee (Health) of the University of Waikato under HREC(Health)2020#82. Any questions about the ethical conduct of this research can be addressed to the Ethics Committee on humanethics@waikato.ac.nz, University of Waikato, Te Whare Wananga o Waikato, Private Bag 3105, Hamilton 3240.

Further information

Further details of the study can be obtained from:

- Kerry Sparrow, ks457@students.waikato.ac.nz
- Dr Amy Bird, +647 837 9226 or email: amy.bird@waikato.ac.nz

If you have any concerns about your child or would like support for yourself or your child at any time, please talk to your GP or contact one of the following services

Parenting Helpline: 0800 568 856

Lifeline: 0800 543 354

Depression and Anxiety Helpline: 0800 111 757

Thank you for taking the time to consider this study. If you wish to take part, please read and complete the consent form.

Appendix D - Consent form

Te Kura Whatu Oho Mauri-School of Psychology 07 837 9288
Te Wānanga o NgāKete-Division of Arts, Law, www.waikato.ac.nz
Psychology and Social Sciences
The University of Waikato
Private Bag 3105
Hamilton, New Zealand, 3240



CONSENT FORM

Research Project: Parental wellbeing and parent-infant attachment

Please complete the following checklist. Tick (✓) the appropriate box for each point.	YES	NO
 I have read the Participant Information Sheet (or it has been read to me) and I understand it. 		
I have been given sufficient time to consider whether or not to participate in this study		
 I am satisfied with the answers I have been given regarding the study and I have a copy of this consent form and information sheet 		
 I understand that taking part in this study is voluntary (my choice) and that I may withdraw from the study at any time without penalty 		
5. I have the right to decline to participate in any part of the research activity		
I know whom to contact if I have any questions about the study in general.		
 I understand that the information supplied by me could be used in future academic publications. 		
 I understand that my participation in this study is confidential and that no material, which could identify me personally, will be used in any reports on this study. 		
I wish to receive a summary of the findings		
10. I agree to participate in an online survey about my own wellbeing (about 30 minutes)		
 I agree to take part in an interview about my own experiences of being parented (about 80 minutes). I understand that this interview will be recorded via Zoom 		
 I agree to participate with my child in a semi-structured play session in my own home (20 minutes). I understand that this play session will be recorded via Zoom 		
 I am willing to be contacted for any future research related to parenting through the University of Waikato conducted by Dr Amy Bird 		

Declaration by participant:

I agree to participate in this research project and I understand that I may withdraw at any time. If I have any concerns about this project, I may contact Kerry Sparrow on ks457@students.waikato.ac.nz or Amy Bird on amy.bird@waikato.ac.nz or +647 837 9226 postal address, University of Waikato, text-amy.bird@waikato.ac.nz or waikato.

Participant's name (Please print):		
Signature:	Date:	
Declaration by member of research team: have given a verbal explanation of the rese participant's questions about it. I believe that consent to participate.	earch project to the participant, an	
Researcher's name (Please print):		
Signature:	Date:	

Appendix E - Teaching task list

Teaching Activities



Below is a list of activities for children aged from birth to three years of age. Please read through the list below session and choose the first activity your child cannot yet do. We would not expect your child to be able to do all or even most of these activities. The goal of choosing one of these activities is to find something that you can teach your child during our session. Please do not begin teaching your child before the session. Thank you ©

- Child can hold a rattle
- Child can follow a rattle with his/her eyes
- 3. Child can imitate parent poking out their tongue
- 4. Child can reach for a rattle
- Child can transfer a block from one hand to another
- Child can squeak a toy
- Child can pick up a food object such as a biscuit and eat it.
- Child can scribble on a piece of paper
- 9. Child can pull a vehicle by a string
- Child can find the vehicle hidden by a piece of cloth
- Child can play pat-a-cake
- 12. Child can stack blocks on top of each other
- Child can pretend to drink from a cup
- Using a picture book child can point to a body part (hand, foot, eyes, nose) when asked
- Child can take the lid off a small container
- 16. Child can imitate a line on a paper using a crayon
- 17. Child can string beads
- 18. Child can put together a 3-piece puzzle
- 19. Child can button a button
- 20. Child can pull a zipper up and down
- 21. Child can balance on one foot
- Using a picture book, child can find a piece of clothing such as shirt, pants, socks, dress etc
- 23. Child can sort blocks of colour
- Child can make sets of blocks by number (1's, 2's, 3"s)
- 25. Child can draw a shape (circle, line, square) using a crayon.
- Child can make a letter of the alphabet using a crayon
- Child can cut a pre-drawn shape (square or circle) using safety scissors
- Child can print his/her first name using a crayon
- 29. Child can hop on one foot

Appendix F – Depression, anxiety and stress scale (DASS-21)

Name.	DASS21	Name:	Date:
-------	--------	-------	-------

Please read each statement and circle a number 0, 1, 2 or 3 which indicates how much the statement applied to you over the past week. There are no right or wrong answers. Do not spend too much time on any statement.

The rating scale is as follows:

- Did not apply to me at all
- Applied to me to some degree, or some of the time
- Applied to me to a considerable degree or a good part of time Applied to me very much or most of the time

1 (s)	I found it hard to wind down	0	1	2	3
2 (a)	I was aware of dryness of my mouth	0	1	2	3
3 (d)	I couldn't seem to experience any positive feeling at all	0	1	2	3
4 (a)	I experienced breathing difficulty (e.g. excessively rapid breathing, breathlessness in the absence of physical exertion)	0	1	2	3
5 (d)	I found it difficult to work up the initiative to do things	0	1	2	3
6 (s)	I tended to over-react to situations	0	1	2	3
7 (a)	I experienced trembling (e.g. in the hands)	0	1	2	3
8 (s)	I felt that I was using a lot of nervous energy	0	1	2	3
9 (a)	I was worried about situations in which I might panic and make a fool of myself	0	1	2	3
10 (d)	I felt that I had nothing to look forward to	0	1	2	3
11 (s)	I found myself getting agitated	0	1	2	3
12 (s)	I found it difficult to relax	0	1	2	3
13 (d)	I felt down-hearted and blue	0	1	2	3
14 (s)	I was intolerant of anything that kept me from getting on with what I was doing	0	1	2	3
15 (a)	I felt I was close to panic	0	1	2	3
16 (d)	I was unable to become enthusiastic about anything	0	1	2	3
17 (d)	I felt I wasn't worth much as a person	0	1	2	3
18 (s)	I felt that I was rather touchy	0	1	2	3
19 (a)	I was aware of the action of my heart in the absence of physical exertion (e.g. sense of heart rate increase, heart missing a beat)	0	1	2	3
20 (a)	I felt scared without any good reason	0	1	2	3
21 (d)	I felt that life was meaningless	0	1	2	3

Appendix G – Difficulties in emotion regulation scale (DERS)

Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS)
Please indicate how often the following statements apply to you by writing the appropriate number from the

	he line beside each item 22	ı. 3	44	
	sometimes	about half the time	most of the time	almost alway
(0-10%)	(11-35%)		(66-90%)	(91-100%)
1) I am	clear about my feelings.			
2) I pay	attention to how I feel.			
3) I exp	erience my emotions as o	overwhelming and out of contr	ro1.	
	e no idea how I am feelir			
5) I hav	e difficulty making sense	out of my feelings.		
6) I am	attentive to my feelings.			
	w exactly how I am feeli			
	e about what I am feeling			
	confused about how I fee			
	en I'm upset, I acknowle			
		ngry with myself for feeling th		
		mbarrassed for feeling that wa	у.	
	en I'm upset, I have diffi			
	en I'm upset, I become o			
		at I will remain that way for a		
		at I will end up feeling very de		
		at my feelings are valid and in		
		culty focusing on other things.	-	
	en I'm upset, I feel out of			
	en I'm upset, I can still g			
		ned at myself for feeling that v		
		I can find a way to eventually	feel better.	
	en I'm upset, I feel like I			
		can remain in control of my b	ehaviors.	
	en I'm upset, I feel guilty			
	en I'm upset, I have diffi			
		culty controlling my behaviors		
		ere is nothing I can do to make		
		ritated at myself for feeling th	at way.	
		el very bad about myself.		
		at wallowing in it is all I can d	lo.	
	en I'm upset, I lose contr			
		culty thinking about anything		
		to figure out what I'm really fe	eling.	
35) Wh	en I'm upset, it takes me	a long time to feel better.		
36) Wh	en I'm upset, my emotion	ns feel overwhelming.		

Appendix H – Parental reflective functioning questionnaire (PRFQ)

The Parental Reflective Functioning Questionnaire

Patrick Luyten^{a,b,c}, Linda C. Mayes^b, Liesbet Nijssens^a & Peter Fonagy^c

Please cite as:

Luyten, P., Mayes, L. C., Nijssens, L., & Fonagy, P. (2017). The parental reflective functioning questionnaire: Development and preliminary validation. *PLOS ONE, 12*(5), e0176218. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176218

Contact address:

Patrick Luyten, PhD
Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences
Tiensestraat 102 pobox 3722
3000 Leuven
Belgium
patrick.luyten@kuleuven.be

PRFQ

Listed below are a number of statements concerning you and your child. Read each item and decide whether you agree or disagree and to what extent.

Use the following rating scale, with 7 if you strongly agree; and 1 if you strongly disagree. The midpoint, if you are neutral or undecided, is 4.

Strongly	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly	
Disagree								Agree	

- 1. __The only time I'm certain my child loves me is when he or she is smiling at me.
- 2. __I always know what my child wants.
- 3. __I like to think about the reasons behind the way my child behaves and feels.
- 4. My child cries around strangers to embarrass me.
- 5. __I can completely read my child's mind.
- 6. __I wonder a lot about what my child is thinking and feeling.
- 7. __I find it hard to actively participate in make believe play with my child.
- 8. __I can always predict what my child will do.
- 9. __I am often curious to find out how my child feels.
- 10. __My child sometimes gets sick to keep me from doing what I want to do.
- 11. _I can sometimes misunderstand the reactions of my child.
- 12. __I try to see situations through the eyes of my child.
- 13. __When my child is fussy he or she does that just to annoy me.
- 14. __I always know why I do what I do to my child.
- 15. __I try to understand the reasons why my child misbehaves.
- 16. __Often, my child's behavior is too confusing to bother figuring out.
- 17. __I always know why my child acts the way he or she does.
- 18. __I believe there is no point in trying to guess what my child feels.

^a Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Leuven, Belgium

^b Yale Child Study Center, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

^c Research Department of Clinical, Educational and Health Psychology, University College London, UK